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Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

CATIC International Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda.

During the year, the Group was involved in the
following activities:

(i) the design, manufacture and installation of
fabricated aluminium and stainless steel products
for buildings, such as curtain wall and cladding
systems, windows, doors, skylights and other
related products;

(i) the generation and sale of electric and steam
power; and

the share of profit from the development,
manufacture and distribution of EC120
helicopters.

In the opinion of the directors, China National Aero-
Technology Import & Export Corporation (“CATIC"), a
state-owned enterprise in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), is the Company’s ultimate holding
company, which is owned as to 50% by China Aviation
Industry Corporation | and 50% by China Aviation
Industry Corporation Il, both of which are directly under
the regulation of the State Council of the PRC.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (which also include Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment property, certain
plant and equipment and equity investments, which
have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars except
when otherwise indicated.

2.1

NI

R [ A 2 B 1T B BRI AR B BR A Rl R
—ERBREAMKIZERA
A o AR RZ M= ACanon's
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton,
HM12, Bermuda °

FR AEEZITBXBEE

(i) Rat - HERRERNAKE
ZmBRTNFMER - MK
B &ofe i AR RS
B MR EMAR
Eam

(i HXERHEEORES R

DEHRE  HERDHE
ECI20E FH#& 2 S5 F) o

EEeRBEREAREME (4
B ) R B 2 R T D AR A
(IR EAa]) BARRZ &K
AR A A o Z AR AR EBELREE
BE2FREMETIXE —SERARLK
FEMETIXF_SEBE QA9 HE
B50% °

fm R E A

HERBERRDIREF LA
ERMHM2EBRY B RS E A
(THKFRS]) (B BB G 2RI
([HKASD) Fifg R E) - BEEER
KA zesRAREERBIGREIZ
WEEXR  WIHBELERAERER
HEREME - & TREMRE MK
REERI CARFEFE) - thF
MBHmEANBITES (BRIESAH
B) -




CATIC International Holdings Limited = B2 £ 7 BB ZE KRB R 2 7

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006

MBEHRME —z2rst-p=+-n

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2006. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances within the Group are eliminated on
consolidation.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders not held by the Group in the results and
net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.

IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to
new and revised accounting policies and additional
disclosures, the adoption of these new and revised
standards and interpretation has had no material effect
on these financial statements.

HKAS 21 Amendment
HKAS 39 & HKFRS 4
Amendments

HKAS 39 Amendment Cash Flow Hedge Accounting

of Forecast Intragroup Transactions

HKAS 39 Amendment
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4

The Fair Value Option

contains a Lease

Financial Guarantee Contracts

2.1

2.2

Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

Determining whether an Arrangement
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IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The principal changes in accounting policies are as
follows:

(a) HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates

Upon the adoption of the HKAS 21 Amendment
regarding a net investment in a foreign
operation, all exchange differences arising from
a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s
net investment in a foreign operation are
recognised in a separate component of equity
in the consolidated financial statements
irrespective of the currency in which the
monetary item is denominated. This change has
had no material impact on these financial
statements as at 31 December 2006 or 31
December 2005.

(b) HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement

(i) Amendment for financial guarantee
contracts

This amendment has revised the scope
of HKAS 39 to require financial guarantee
contracts issued that are not considered
insurance contracts, to be recognised
initially at fair value and to be remeasured
at the higher of the amount determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets and the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (continued)

(i) Amendment for financial guarantee
contracts (continued)

with HKAS 18 Revenue. During the
current and prior years, the Group and
the Company provided guarantees to
banks in connection with bank loans and
other banking facilities granted to its
subsidiaries and certain suppliers of the
Group. Upon the adoption of this
amendment, the Group and the Company
are required to recognise these financial
guarantee contracts as financial liabilities.
This change has had no material impact
on these financial statements as at 31
December 2006 and 31 December 2005.

(i) Amendment for the fair value option

This amendment has changed the
definition of a financial instrument
classified as fair value through profit or
loss and has restricted the use of the
option to designate any financial asset
or any financial liability to be measured
at fair value through the income
statement. The Group had not previously
used this option, and hence the
amendment has had no effect on the
financial statements.
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IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (continued)

(iif)

Amendment for cash flow hedge
accounting of forecast intragroup
transactions

This amendment has revised HKAS 39 to
permit the foreign currency risk of a
highly probable intragroup forecast
transaction to qualify as a hedged item
in a cash flow hedge, provided that the
transaction is denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the
entity entering into that transaction and
that the foreign currency risk will affect
the consolidated income statement. As
the Group currently has no such
transactions, the amendment has had no
effect on these financial statements.

(c) HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease

The Group has adopted this interpretation as of
1 January 2006, which provides guidance in
determining whether arrangements contain a
lease to which lease accounting must be applied.
This interpretation has had no material impact
on these financial statements.
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective, in these financial statements.

HKAS 1 Amendment
HKFRS 7

HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC)-Int 7

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8
HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
HK(IFRIC)-Int 10
HK(IFRIC)-Int 11

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12

Capital Disclosures

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Operating Segments

Applying the Restatement Approach

under HKAS 29 Financial Reporting

in Hyperinflationary Economies
Scope of HKFRS 2

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Interim Financial Reporting
and Impairment

HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

Service Concession Arrangements

The HKAS 1 Amendment shall be applied for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The

revised standard will affect the disclosures about

qualitative information about the Group’s objective,

policies and processes for managing capital;

guantitative data about what the Company regards as

capital; and compliance with any capital requirements

and the consequences of any non-compliance.

HKFRS 7 shall be applied for annual periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2007. The standard requires

disclosures that enable users of the financial statements

to evaluate the significance of the Group’s financial

instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising

from those financial instruments and also incorporates

many of the disclosure requirements of HKAS 32.
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IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 8 shall be applied for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009. The standard specifies
how an entity should report information about its
operating segments in annual financial statements and,
as a consequential amendment to HKAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting, requires an entity to report selected
information about its operating segments in interim
financial reports. It also sets out requirements for
related disclosures about the products and services
provided by the segments, geographical areas in which
the Group operates and revenues from the Group’s
major customers. This standard will supersede HKAS
14 Segment Reporting.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 7, HK(IFRIC)-Int 8, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9,
HK(IFRIC)-Int 10, HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 12
shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 March 2006, 1 May 2006, 1 June 2006, 1
November 2006, 1 March 2007 and 1 January 2008,
respectively.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application. So far, it has concluded that while
the adoption of the HKAS 1 Amendment, HKFRS 7
and HKFRS 8 may result in new or amended disclosures,
these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a
significant impact on the Group’s results of operations
and financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a
jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
reserves of associates is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves,
respectively. The Group’s interests in associates are
stated in the consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates, which was not
previously eliminated or recognised in the consolidated
reserves, is included as part of the Group’s interests in
associates. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates represents the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the
net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed as at the date of acquisition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially
measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. In the case of
associates, goodwill is included in the carrying amount
thereof, rather than as a separately identified asset on
the consolidated balance sheet.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units
or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is so allocated:

o represents the lowest level within the Group at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes; and

o is not larger than a segment based on either
the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary
reporting format determined in accordance with
HKAS 14 Segment Reporting.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwiill
associated with the operation disposed of is included
in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Goodwill previously eliminated against consolidated
retained profits

Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA's Statement of
Standard Accounting Practice 30 Business Combinations
("SSAP 30") in 2001, goodwill arising on acquisition
was eliminated against consolidated retained profits in
the year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3,
such goodwill remains eliminated against consolidated
retained profits and is not recognised in the income
statement when all or part of the business to which
the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes
impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)
Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of the acquisition of
associates (previously referred to as negative goodwill),
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the
income statement.

The excess for the associates is included in the Group's
share of the associates’ profit or loss in the period in
which the investments are acquired.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, construction contract assets, deferred
tax assets, financial assets, investment property and
goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to
whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, however not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation), had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such impairment loss is credited to
the income statement in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Group;
(ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has
joint control over the Group;

the party is an associate;

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of the Group, or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than an
investment property and construction in progress, are
stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items
of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an
increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant
and equipment and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the
values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with
as movements in the property, plant and equipment
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income
statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the income statement to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued
asset, the relevant portion of the property, plant and
equipment revaluation reserve realised in respect of
previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as
a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost or valuation of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives used
for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms

Leasehold improvements 4 years

Plant and machinery 5 years

Generation plant and related 15 years
structure

Furniture, fixtures and 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 4 years

Tools and moulds 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment which are in their acquisition phase and is
stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. The acquisition phase of an asset includes
the period when the asset is under construction,
installation and testing. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction together with borrowing costs incurred
during the asset acquisition period that theoretically
could have been avoided if expenditure for the asset
had not been made. The capitalisation of borrowing
costs ceases when substantially all of the activities
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are
completed. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when it is completed and ready for use,
notwithstanding any delays in the issue of the relevant
commissioning certificates by the relevant authorities.

Investment property

Investment property is interest in land and building
held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such property is measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
investment property is stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the investment property are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum
lease payments and recorded together with the
obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the income statement so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to
the income statement on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under the operating leases are charged to the
income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire
lease payments are included in the cost of the land
and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial
assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value,
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction
costs. The Group considers whether a contract contains
an embedded derivative when the Group first becomes
a party to it. The embedded derivatives are separated
from the host contract which is not measured at fair
value through profit or loss when the analysis shows
that the economic characteristics and risks of embedded
derivatives are not closely related to those of the host
contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance
sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include the financial assets held for trading and
financial assets designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of sale in the near term. Gains or losses
on these investments are recognised in the income
statement.

Financial assets may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or
recognising gains or losses on them on a different
basis; (ii) the assets are part of a group of financial
assets which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial asset contains an embedded derivative that
would need to be separately recorded.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
guoted in an active market. Such assets are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated
taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction costs.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income
statement when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the
amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted securities and
financial assets under Project EC120 as set out in note
19 to the financial statements, that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the
other two categories. After initial recognition, available-
for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with
gains or losses recognised as a separate component of
equity until the investment is derecognised or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity
is included in the income statement.

When the fair value of unlisted securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded
in organised financial markets is determined by
reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of
business on the balance sheet date. For investments
where there is no active market, fair value is determined
using valuation techniques. Such techniques include
using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference
to the current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow
analysis and option pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced either directly or through the
use of an allowance account. The amount of the
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, and individually or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is
included in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and that group is collectively
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is or continues to be recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal
date.

In relation to trade and retention receivables, a
provision for impairment is made when there is
objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency
or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that
the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts
due under the original terms of an invoice. The carrying
amount of the receivables is reduced through the use
of an allowance account. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current
fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the income statement, is transferred from
equity to the income statement. Impairment losses on
equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are
not reversed through the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised where:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired;

o the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation
to pay them in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a
written and/or purchased option (including a cash-
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred
asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group
may repurchase, except in the case of a written put
option (including a cash-settled option or similar
provision) on an asset measured at fair value, where
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred
asset and the option exercise price.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payable,
other payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings and
finance lease payables are initially stated at fair value
less directly attributable transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income
statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the amortisation process.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39
are accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee
contract, except when such contract is recognised at
fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts of a long term nature are stated
at cost, plus any attributable profits, less any
foreseeable losses, and progress payments received and
receivable. Contract costs incurred comprise direct
materials, the cost of subcontracting, direct labour, and
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
construction overheads, including depreciation on plant
and machinery used in construction projects, and
capitalised interest on loans to finance specific projects.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.

24 FEEBRBE (B)

RIEBAMBAE

EREBETHETERRFRIBUEN
JEWmE - RIEERMBAE -

WERBEMBRERKER —ERA
BB TR S BB EAR
R KRB EBENGRFET KR
B2k - B E B HEFTRRAMER
LHERRFRERERHAEGE - M
EREREENEZRRNFNBRAE

27
a °

BEAN

RHAREQNEAARAR - N EE
o] EEAE S AR F] T R 2 518 - IRt
AW B ZER MK - &KX
rBEREMEEEDH HEER -
BERSTRAELH 2 & REE
REMZER (BREETIRMBZ
R RTERSER TRAE
ERZEBREARFER) -

BEERHHIR 27 R EBEG(ER
e

i B 5T B 2 M A KA B RERR
HREBREBA s BRERE
BHE - HBLEI BB AANE
FRH -

HEEKRBEHBEBEBRTEIHAE
AR B B RE R H) K B iR S 1R
BRFEE  AIBL 2HRBIIAR
BHEPIA -



Annual Report 2006 — EZE N E F£

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006

BRI —zexst=-8=1-8

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories for construction contracts, comprising raw
materials and sub-materials, are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value, after making due
allowance for any obsolete or slow-moving items. Cost
is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to the
underlying specific contracts in progress in which the
inventories will ultimately be used.

Inventories for the generation of electric and steam
power, comprising mainly coal and spare parts and
consumables for repairs and maintenance of machinery
and equipment, are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value, after making due allowance for
any obsolete or slow-moving items. Cost is determined
on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses
in the income statement in the period in which they
are incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Provisions for warranties granted by the Group are
recognised based on past experience of the level of
repairs, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax is recognised in the income statement, or in equity
if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or
a different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from
goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously
unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset,
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to
the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions are initially recorded using the
functional currency rates ruling at the date of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date . All differences are taken to the
income statement. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than
the Hong Kong dollar. As at the balance sheet date,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company at
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and,
their income statements are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year. The resulting exchange differences are included
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign

operation is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequent recurring
cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(a) from the rendering of contracting works services,
based on the stage of completion of the
construction contracts, as further explained in
the accounting policy for “Recognition of
income from construction contracts”;

(b) from the sale of electric and steam power, based
on actual consumption derived from the reading
of meters during the year;

(c) from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters, when the Group’s
right to receive its share of profit from Project
EC120 has been established (note 719);

(d) from the rendering of services, when the services
are rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(f) rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

(9) government grants, on a systematic basis over
the periods necessary to match the grant to the
costs that it is intended to compensate;

(h) income relating to the exclusive distributorship
of certain helicopter engines, on an accrual basis
pursuant to the relevant agreement; and

(i) income from the sale of coal residues, when
the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold.

Recognition of income from construction
contracts

Profit on long term construction contracts is recognised
in the income statement on the percentage of
completion basis when the outcome of each contract
can be ascertained with reasonable certainty and when
a contract is at least 20% complete, by reference to
the total estimated cost of such contract, after making
due allowances for contingencies. When the outcome
of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably
and when a contract is less than 20% complete,
revenue is recognised only to the extent that contract
costs incurred are recoverable. Provision is made for
any foreseeable losses as soon as such losses are
anticipated by management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Recognition of income from construction
contracts (continued)

The Group makes claims for additional work done,
which may arise either under specific circumstances
provided for under the contracts, or due to variations
made to the contract specifications by its customers.
Where the amounts of such claims have not been
formally agreed at the balance sheet date, the likely
amount receivable as estimated by management, based
on all of the information available at the time, is
included in the contract value in determining the
estimated profit or foreseeable loss on the contract.

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of
HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has
applied HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards
granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested
by 1 January 2005 and to those granted on or after
1 January 2005.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the
required number of years of service to the Group in
order to be eligible for long service payments under
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of
the termination of their employment. The Group is
liable to make such payments in the event that such a
termination of employment meets the circumstances
specified in the Employment Ordinance. A contingent
liability is disclosed in respect of possible future long
service payments to employees, as a number of current
employees have achieved the required number of years
of service to the Group, at the balance sheet date, in
order to be eligible for long service payments under
the Employment Ordinance if their employment is
terminated in the circumstances specified. A provision
has not been recognised in respect of such possible
payments, as it is not considered probable that the
situation will result in a material future outflow of
resources from the Group.

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits
(continued)

Prior to the MPF Scheme being effective, the Group
operated a defined contribution provident fund for
those employees who were eligible and had elected to
participate in the fund. This fund operated in a way
similar to the MPF Scheme, except that when an
employee left the fund prior to his/her interest in the
Group's employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group were
reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited
contributions. Upon the implementation of the MPF
Scheme with effect from 1 December 2000, the
provident fund was frozen and no further contributions
by the Group or the eligible employees were made
after that date. When eligible employees leave the
Group, they receive their entitlements pursuant to the
existing rules of this fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the balance sheet, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property. The Group has determined
that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of this property which is leased out on
operating leases.

Classification between investment property and
owner-occupied property

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as
an investment property and has developed criteria in
making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently
of the other assets held by the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment property and
owner-occupied property (continued)

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately (or leased out
separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts
for the portions separately. If the portions could not
be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant
that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Classification of equity investments between equity
investment at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale investment

The Group determines the classification of its equity
investments after initial recognition and, where allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the
balance sheet date. The Group designated 9.99%
equity interest in Sino Gas Group Limited (“Sino Gas"”)
out of the 19.99% interest held by the Group as at 31
December 2006 as an equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss as such portion of equity interest
in Sino Gas is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented investment strategy. The rest of 10%
equity interest in Sino Gas out of the 19.99% interest
held by the Group as at 31 December 2006 is
designated as available-for-sale investment. More details
are given in notes 20 and 26 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Profitability and percentage of completion of
construction contracts

The Group determines the profitability of its
construction contracts based on the net income that
could be obtained after deducting its estimation of
the total costs of the contracts. The Group also
recognises its revenue from its contracts by the
percentage of completion of the contracts which is
measured by reference to the proportion of costs
incurred to date to the estimated total costs of the
relevant contract.

Judgement is also made on the contingency costs that
may arise from variation orders and claims as well as
the recovery of such costs from their customers.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amounts of goodwill on the acquisition
of a subsidiary and an associate at 31 December 2006
were HK$38,116,502 (2005: HK$38,116,502) and
HK$2,936,264 (2005: HK$2,936,264), respectively.
More details are given in note 16 to the financial
statements on the impairment testing of goodwill on
acquisition of a subsidiary.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The carrying amount of recognised
tax losses at 31 December 2006 was HK$13,153,200
(2005: HK$23,491,000). The amount of unrecognised
tax losses at 31 December 2006 was HK$25,897,308
(2005: HK$18,447,162). Further details are detailed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group determines whether interests in associates
is impaired on an annual basis. Valuation techniques
used was discounted future cash flows generated from
the continuous operations of the associates by applying
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Impairment of a financial asset under Project EC120

The Group determines whether the financial asset under
Project EC120 is impaired on an annual basis. The
financial asset has been valued based on discounted
future cash flows generated from the sale of helicopters
covering a 9-year period by applying a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and residue values of items of property,
plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment, the Group
has to consider various factors, such as expected usage
of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care
and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits
on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful
life of the asset is based on the experience of the
Group with similar assets that is used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful
lives and/or the residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment are different from previous
estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at each financial year end date based on changes in
circumstances.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated losses
arising from the inability of its customers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates
based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances,
customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of its customers
was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss
might be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance
and its future results would be affected.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two
segment formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting
basis, by business segment; and (ii) on a secondary
segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group’s business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services
which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments. Summary
details of the business segments are as follows:

(a) the facade contracting works segment engages
in the design, manufacture and installation of
fabricated aluminium and stainless steel products
for buildings, such as curtain wall and cladding
systems, windows, doors, skylights and other
related products;

(b) the electric and steam power supply segment
engages in the generation and sale of electric
and steam power in the Linping industrial region
of Hangzhou in the PRC; and

(c) the aero-technology related business segment
engages in the share of profit from the
development, manufacture and distribution of
EC120 helicopters.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments,
revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to
the segments based on the location of the assets.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(a)

The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss)
and certain asset,
information for the Group’s business segments
for the years ended 31 December 2006 and

Business segments

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006
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liability and expenditure

4. DEEH (&)
(a) E¥28
T?_EEEIJ$%I@E:§$

+— EIJJ:EFZ“*E%%%Z
Wz EF (BB RET

2005, EE BEKAZER -
Facade Electric and steam Aero-technology
contracting works power supply related business Consolidated
AEARIR EHRENLRE RERHERER &e
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
ZEERE -STNE ZEEARE “TTRE CEEXE -ITRE ZEEIRE 3504
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér  FAr  TEx  TEr  TEn  TEr  TET  TAI
Seqment revenue: P ENE
Sales to external customers 9 %ﬁfﬁ‘% 885100 450431 170,786 154,306 1,259 3408 1,057,154 608,145
Other income A 32 196 7,894 10,512 1,560 3,120 9,486 13,828
Total At 885,141 450,627 178,680 164,818 2,819 6,528 1,066,640 621,973
Segment results VEES 17,751 16,265 15,674 20,467 (3.422) 2,586 30,003 39,318
Interest income, WA
rental income and BEWAR
unallocated gains AAEHE 5,316 4612
Unallocated expenses AERY (11,955)  (11,563)
Fair value gain ERERE
on an equity AFE3IE
investment at fair MRARE
value through LATHE
profit or loss b 37,797 -
Finance costs BBHEY (5366)  (6,186)
Gain on deemed disposal of i85 1 EE 4
an interest in an associate A EER 278 22,030 -
Share of profits and HMIBERE
losses of associates &3/ (B8) @171) 4380
Excess over cost of B dalE
acquisition of an BEDARK
associate recognised as 2B A
income WA - 6,070
Profit before tax B BEAT L A 55654 36,631
Tax il (4551) (6,643
Profit for the year RERT 51103 29988
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. DEER (&
(continued)
(a) Business segments (continued) (a) XBoE(B)
Facade Electric and steam Aero-technology
contracting works power supply related business Consolidated
AEHEIR ENRRALE RERERBER &a
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
ZEERE CZTTRF ZBERF CITRE -BEAE -TIREF CEIAE Z3%4F
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T2z  TAr TEz TEr  TEx  TEr  FER  TEx
Segment assets PBEE 450,333 406,305 326,139 299,657 50,476 55,688 826,948 761,650
Interests in associates BENAER 48136 113,629
Unallocated assets AAREE 233,688 72,948
Total assets BELA 1108772 948,227
Seqment liabilities AEBE W62 29172 7074 68445 587 485 314,823 288,102
Unallocated liabilities APEBE 169,152 154,203
Total liabilties BRET 483975 442,305
Other segment EhAREH
information:
Depreciation E 5,405 5,561 10,965 10,380 1 1 16,371 15,942
Unallocated amounts AAERE 889 801
17,260 16,743
Capital expenditure BARX 6,337 6748 3,686 13,983 - - 3903 20731
Unallocated amounts ADERE 383 883
39,406 21,614
Deficit/(surplus) on revaluation %% + FiE
of items of property, plant  REEE EfE
and equipment B2/ (%) - - 8444 (2014) - - 8444 (2014)
Impairment of financial asset 35 B EC12081 %
under Project EC120 BENME - - - - 4,800 3,000 4,800 3,000
Impairment of A&
available-for-sale REZ
investments HE 580 - - - - - 580 -
Provision/(write-back of R A5 R
provision) for impairment of  RE £ 25
trade and retention Bh/(Bk
recelvables, net m&) 5% (1016) 1586  (1957) - - - 29m) 1586
Provision for warranty RERE 3,920 435 - - - - 3,920 435
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. DEER (&)
(continued)
(b) Geographical segments (b) HEDE
The following table presents revenue and certain TREVWASEHEZE-ZZ
asset and expenditure information for the NER-ZFTTRAEF+T=-A=
Group’s geographical segments for the years T—HLEFEZTRMEZ
ended 31 December 2006 and 2005. WashETEERAXE
e
United States
Hong Kong Mainland China Macau of America Others Consolidated
BB HE RS S5 -4 58

200 2005 2006 2005 2006 2000 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
ZEERE CTTRG CBEAE CTTRE CBEAE D204 B8R CTTRF B8R CTTRF CBRRE STTRE
HKS'000 HKSO00 HKS'000 HKSO0D HKS(00 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS(000  HKS'000
fEx TEr TEx TEr TEx fEx TFEr TEx TEr  FEr  TEn

Segment revenue: ARlE

Sales to external HNEER
customers e 83719 252249 228666 305579 281,967 155,178 - 9% - 1,057,154 608,145

Other segment EftH R

information: E#
Segment assefs ABEE 58,301 49573 415684 402,020 42695 65,366 3503 2,636 - 1108772 948,207
Capital expenditure  AXBE 1001 1480 35551 19955 5 2611 - - 39406 20604
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. W@~ Hitg A R FE

GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
an appropriate proportion of contract revenue of the
construction contracts; the net invoiced value of electric
and steam power sold; and income from Project EC120
for the development, manufacture and distribution of
helicopters.

Was (TMENVARE B 2 & %58) Ty
HITEHNIRZEE REHEEE
NREARZERFE  UERKREH
B CORERKHEEAK ZEA
EC120Z2 L A
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5 W= Hatl A KRR &
GAINS (continued) (4&)
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as Wam » BB ARFBES AT :
follows:
2006 2005
—EBEAE —ZERF
Note HK$ HK$
k=3 BT BT
Revenue I
Value of contracting works BHAEHNIRZEE
performed 885,109,287 450,431,243
Generation and sale of electric FEREEESNRER
and steam power 170,786,264 154,305,801
Share of profit from Project EC120 DEREFAE  HER
for the development, KEEAKIER
manufacture and distribution EC120Z ) I
of helicopters 1,258,854 3,408,211
1,057,154,405 608,145,255
Other income Hi g A
Income in respect of ETEA#SIZER
an exclusive distributorship D HEZ A
of certain helicopter engines 25 1,560,005 3,119,995
Bank interest income RITH B A 4,698,622 1,911,470
Income from installation of TRMETEE WA
infrastructure for steam supply 818,583 3,039,191
Government grants* HIT#E & 1,203,384 2,072,896
Income from sale of coal residues HEREZ WA 5,812,097 5,321,175
Gross rental income He W AR5 587,760 550,000
Others Hit 91,624 247,253
14,772,075 16,261,980
Gains F 58
Gain on disposal of available-for- 6 A Y
sale investments K& 2 FH - 27,828
Others HAh 30,000 =
30,000 27,828
14,802,075 16,289,808
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS (continued)

* Various coal prices subsidies and government grants

relating to anti-pollution research activities in

Hangzhou, the PRC, have been received from the

government authorities in Hangzhou. There are no

unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after

5. W@ > Httle A R A H

(

6. BR®

N

T T R A B P9 B st IR (B AR
B R R BN ETT 2 IRIRF ST
ABREZERFEDE  BH
It % 15 B) 2 29 K H 3R AR AT A R
TZBERRHIAREE -

Ail 3 A

AEBEzBREAENEMNSR, (G

charging/(crediting): A)BATRIBR :
2006 2005
—EEXRE “TTREF
Notes HKS$ HK$
fft it B BT
Cost of contracting works: BHTRKR
Cost of contracting works BE#HITE L
performed ITRRZHEA 813,304,472 389,407,431
Warranty provision REB R 29 3,920,000 435,200
817,224,472 389,842,631
Cost of electric and steam HES N R
power supply IR 146,358,446 138,378,486
963,582,918 528,221,117
Depreciation e 14 17,260,191 16,742,566
Less: Amounts capitalised to long B BERHIZSE
term construction contracts BRERZFE  36(a) (3,646,879) (4,004,234)
13,613,312 12,738,332
Minimum lease payments under THREFEE
operating leases on land and Mz xEHE
buildings 5,226,532 2,739,203
Less: Amounts capitalised to long W BERHIEE
term construction contracts BHER 2 58 (3,695,341) (2,150,956)
1,531,191 588,247
Recognition of prepaid HBRER
land lease payments THAER 15 957,163 952,671
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6.

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after
charging/(crediting): (continued)

BRBL AT A (45)

AEEzBREIEN 2GR, (G
AVATIEE : (8B)

2006 2005
—EERE —ETRF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Employee benefits expense EERAMER
(excluding directors’ remuneration (TEREESHe
(note 8)): (Miz£8)) -
Wages and salaries TEkE & 32,188,138 22,267,654
Pension scheme contributions RINEFT B X 2,560,142 2,969,245
Less: Forfeited contributions o B8 W R (97,495) (71,496)
Net pension scheme contributions* BREFHEMEFUFE 2,462,647 2,897,749
Other operating expenses/ Hig g/
(income), net: (F8) #% :
Provision/(write-back of provision) U E FBR R &
for impairment of trade and RESZHERE
retention receivables, net (BEEE) FHE (2,972,740) 1,586,093
Impairment of available-for-sale AfEENRE
investments ZBE 580,000 =
Others Hft - 747,679
(2,392,740) 2,333,772
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN & 1,300,000 1,190,000
Foreign exchange differences, net HNE R I =58 - FEB 178,367 67,448
Net rental income He WA FEE (587,760) (550,000)
@ At 31 December 2006, the Group had no forfeited RZZEERF+ZA=+—8 -

contributions available to reduce its contributions to
the pension schemes in future years (2005: Nil).

AR ER B 3 A ) 2 0% WA ST
1B D R R B Z R RET B R

—ETHF  E) o
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BMEREX
Group
REH
2006 2005
—EERE —ETRF
Note HK$ HK$
i & BT BT
Interest on bank overdrafts and BREFREEER
bank loans wholly repayable ZRTBEIR
within five years RITEFR 2 F B 9,117,505 7,057,805
Less: Amounts capitalised to W BERHIEE
long term construction BHERZHIE
contracts 36(a) (3,776,367) (909,081)
5,341,138 6,148,724
Interest on a finance lease BEHEZF LB 24,951 37,718
5,366,089 6,186,442
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM=£
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant BRI LR R & A RMEAE 16115
to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong WEZEEMESWT :
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
REH
2006 2005
—ETXRE —ZERF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Fees: we
Executive Directors HWITES 250,839 216,000
Non-executive Directors EHITESE 420,000 420,000
670,839 636,000
Other emoluments (Executive Directors): E A El 4 (1TEE)
Salaries, allowances and e R
benefits in kind REYH = 5,516,550 5,452,567
Pension scheme contributions RIKE ST EIE 359,160 359,160
5,875,710 5,811,727

6,546,549 6,447,727
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

(a) Independent Non-executive Directors

The fees paid to Independent Non-executive

8. EEM= (&

(a)

BYFBTES

REAXNTEIIFRTE

Directors during the year were as follows: EyHELSMT
2006 2005
ZEEBRE “TTRE
HKS$ HK$
B BT
Chu Yu Lin, David Ko 120,000 120,000
Li Ka Cheung, Eric TRE 120,000 120,000
Li Zhaoxi F K ER 60,000 60,000
300,000 300,000

There were no other emoluments payable to
the Independent Non-executive Directors during
the year (2005: Nil).

RERL EE RN T B
FUTEZSHME (CFTH

FE) -
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

8. EEM= (&

(continued)
(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) HBTEERIVDTES
Director
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
in kind contributions Total
Fees ¢ 28 BikE remuneration
e RENA R FTEIMR MemE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
2006 “BEARE
Executive Directors: HITES
Fu Shula g 36,000 - - 36,000
Wang Xinkuo UM 36,000 - - 36,000
Ji Guirong TR 36,000 3,360,000 219,000 3,615,000
Ma Zhiping i 34,839 - - 34,839
Diao Weicheng ARRE 36,000 - - 36,000
Liu Rongchun ElEE 36,000 - - 36,000
Ren Haifeng frigE 36,000 2,156,550 140,160 2,332,710
250,839 5,516,550 359,160 6,126,549
Non-executive Director: FHTES -
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond EEp 120,000 - - 120,000
370,839 5,516,550 359,160 6,246,549
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8.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

8. EEM= (&

(continued)
(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) BITEBERFHUTES
Director (continued) (&
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
in kind contributions Total
Fees e 11 E4kE  remuneration
ue REWMA TEHR WeuE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
2005 “EEERF
Executive Directors: HTES:
Fu Shula & 36,000 = = 36,000
Wang Xinkuo TR 36,000 — - 36,000
Ji Guirong FEH 36,000 3,362,567 219,000 3,617,567
Diao Weicheng AEB#E 26,300 - - 26,300
Liu Rongchun HETS 26,300 = = 26,300
Ren Haifeng Tgig 36,000 2,090,000 140,160 2,266,160
Yang Chunshu BER 9,700 - - 9,700
Yu Li T# 9,700 = - 9,700
216,000 5,452,567 359,160 6,027,727
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond g 120,000 - - 120,000
336,000 5,452,567 359,160 6,147,727

There was no arrangement under which a

director waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year.

FRALETMNLZHBEES
MEXFEREEMME -
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9

The five highest paid employees included two (2005:
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining three (2005: three) non-director, highest
paid employees for the year are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006
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hIEBEHESR

hEk=nEEREME (ZTZA
FMBES REMS2HBH
REXHFES  Ep=8 (ZFFH
F:ZR)ESHIFEEREZHE
ZEBWT

Group

rEE
2006 2005
—EEXRE —TTRF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Basic salaries, allowances EARF& 28

and benefits in kind KRB & 3,796,960 3,298,000
Pension scheme contributions BAREET AR 254,478 222,139
Performance related bonuses TERIRIBEEA 1,020,000 814,000
5,071,438 4,334,139

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is

MeETIEEZRSHIFESZR
B8R

as follows:
Number of employees
BEAH
2006 2005
—BERF —ZTERF
HK$1,000,001 - HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000 7T - 3
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7t — 2,500,000/ 7T 1 =
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10. TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 17.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year ended 31 December
2006. No Hong Kong profits tax had been provided
for the year ended 31 December 2005 as the Group
had available tax losses brought forward to offset the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions
in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

10.

BiIH

AEEERBE_ZTZTF+=A
=+t BLEFERREBZH5E
RFRA A7 5% 2 FHEAELFB
FEHEE BHRASEREE=
TETRE+_A=+—RALFEE
AR A2 BIEE B R AEHRR
BB ZEFTERT RSN - AZF
B EIELBEAFESRER -

Hiipa 2 AR ASE LS
PERR  EBEHER 2B X -
RIEABZIBEITEN  BERED

e
= =H o
Al 7+

Group

rEE
2006 2005
—EERE —EEREF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Current BV ER

- Hong Kong — &% (12,934) =
— Elsewhere — H [ 5,230,092 3,847,030
Deferred (note 21) EE (ffaE21) (665,767) 2,796,342
Total tax charge for the year REFIEFRZ B 4,551,391 6,643,372
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10. TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax using the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006
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10. FIE (&
ARaINEFEHE R RIEBFIE
B EEREEAEMEAE LB
T A v A B TE S BN S B R

of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax charge for BXHZHERET :
the year is as follows:
Group - 2006
rEE-"2FXE
Mainland
Hong Kong China Elsewhere Total
NS A Hthih @ At
HKS HKS HKS HKS
Profit/(loss) before tax BREmMEN /(B8 48,581,683 27,870,811 (20,797,988) 55,654,506
Tax at the statutory REER X
tax rates HEZHE 8,501,795 9,197,368 (7,531,494) 10,167,669
Lower tax rates for specific BEAHNZ
provinces BEHZ - (6,905,582) - (6,905,582)
Deemed income of the PRC mERER
construction business ZBRFEBRA 169,242 562,823 - 732,065
Profits and losses attributable AEHE R
to associates b L 4,661,967 (535,672) - 4,126,295
Income not subject to tax BRBHMA (13,103,767) - (63,732) (13,167,499)
Expenses not deductible TMEHHZ
for tax 53 2,914,820 2,586,187 1,514,049 7,015,056
Tax losses utilised from HABRTHE
previous periods HEE®R (814,930) (220,284) - (1,035,214)
Increase in unprovided tax REELEEHR
losses carried forward BREM - 45,074 3,573,527 3,618,601

Tax charge/(credit) for the year AERBERL/ (KR) 2,329,127

4,729,914 (2,507,650) 4,551,391
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10. TAX (continued)

10. I8 (&)

Group - 2005
AEE-—FZRF
Mainland
Hong Kong China Elsewhere Total
BB A HiipE CE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BBATEN/ (B#8) 13,973,180 22,663,144 (5,448) 36,630,876
Tax at the statutory REEREFTE
tax rates ZHIE 2,445,307 7,478,837 37,045 9,961,189
Lower tax rates for specific BHEEMNZ
provinces REH X = (6,404,082) - (6,404,082)
Deemed income of the PRC RERELY
construction business EETON 109,045 332,111 = 441,156
Profits and losses attributable 7 {5 B & 1A A
to associates B (313,653) (194,112) = (507,765)
Income not subject to tax BAMTIMA (2,091,799) (314,983) (26,612) (2,433,394)
Expenses not deductible AEABZ
for tax 53 2,531,979 1,373,268 32,318 3,937,565
Tax losses utilised from PRBEHME
previous periods HEER (271,834) - - (271,834)
Increase in unprovided tax AEBEETE
losses carried forward EEE M = 1,740,988 179,549 1,920,537
Tax charge for the year AEHIER X 2,409,045 4,012,027 222,300 6,643,372

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group were eligible for
exemption from corporate income tax (“CIT"”) for the
two years starting from the first year in which
and a 50%
exemption from CIT for the following three years. In

assessable profits were generated,

addition, another PRC subsidiary was eligible for a
concessionary CIT rate of 16.5%.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting
to HK$1,010,171 (2005: HK$963,050) is included in
“Share of profits and losses of associates” on the face

of the consolidated income statement.

AEEETHENBARASERR
BEEEAARFENFREEMFEA

CHREEMSHR([AER]) - &
A& =FAERF50%Z T EHR

oo i A—KFPEMNBRRE
BB ZH165%ZBEMEHM
‘z%\:(o

453&***“72%&157%1 010,171/ 7T

—ZTTRHF : 963,050/ L) BB
RBEGEFNBERZ [DE8E R al&R
(B8R -
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11.

12.
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders
of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2006
includes a loss of HK$10,651,671 (2005:
HK$6,828,069) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 35(b)).

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts for the years ended
31 December 2006 and 2005 have not been disclosed
as the share options outstanding during these years
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
share for these years.

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on:

11.

12.

AEIEREFEEAEMLR
A
HE-_ZEZF+-_A=+—801
FEZAREFTEABELRE &
Fp - BT RARA R B KT
2 E1810,651,671 8T (ZEFH
& : 6,828,0697%T) (A1aE35(b)) °
PEEEEREEARE
ESTd

IR A R TR I8 A A % A 2
B A A A6 0 FI R B B AT
B MAE T B -

+_ﬂ:+ Etirlﬂﬂﬂifﬂiz

RERUZEFHZIERER G
Iﬁ%?ﬁ?&% B I IR B A
BEGNEHE -

BRENRMNOFTEIRE

2006 2005
—EERF —EERF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings i Al
Profit attributable to ordinary TR
equity holders of the parent A ARG 47,949,807 26,053,554
Number of shares
[igng =
2006 2005
—BER “EThHE
Shares & 1
Weighted average number of ordinary &R E %17 % @A
shares in issue during the year Z INHE 15 8 3,937,995,160  3,741,481,000




CATIC International Holdings Limited = B2 £ 7 BB ZE KRB R 2 7

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006

MBEHRME —z2rst-p=+-n

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 13. REWZE
Group and Company
REBREAEAT

2006 2005
—EEXRE —ZERF
HKS$ HK$
Ex BT
Carrying amount at 1 January KR—A—RBzEHAE 14,900,000 12,750,000
Net profit from a fair value adjustment A F(EFE 2 %54 - 2,150,000
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—HZEEE 14,900,000 14,900,000

The Group’s and the Company’s investment property
was revalued on 31 December 2006 by BMI Appraisals
Limited (2005: Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited),
independent professionally qualified valuers, at
HK$14,900,000 (2005: HK$14,900,000) on an open
market, existing use basis.

The Group’s and the Company’s investment property is
situated in Hong Kong and is held under a medium
term lease. At 31 December 2006, this investment
property is pledged to secure a bank loan of the Group
and the Company (note 37(a)(i)) and was leased to a
shareholder of the Company under an operating lease,
further details of which are included in notes 37(a)
and 40(a)(i) to the financial statements.

AEBRARBZYWER=_ZTEN
F+_A=+—"HHBIEXLE
A EMHEESETHBR AR (=
ZTRF  FEFHER2E)EA
FAmE RERREEENHES
14,900,000 L (ZZE T A F
14,900,000/ 7T) °

AEERARBZLEMETILR
FRALZPPROTE -A_FF
NETZA=1T—8 WREWE
BEEM - ERAKERARARRT
ERZER (FaE31)0)) - LRE
REBOHBTARAZER - &
BER B ®RREWME37@R
40(a)(i) °
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EQUIPMENT

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
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14. Y% -  BENRE

Group - 31 December 2006
AEE--2ERET-A=1-A

Generation
plantand  Furniture,
landand  Leasehold  Plant and related  fixtures and Tools and
Construction ~ buildings improvements ~ machinery ~structure  equipment Motor moulds
in progress 1% 6 BE ZEEER HR-KE  vehides I8 Total
ERIE  REF HXEB  REE HERE  RRE hE kKR At
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
A7 A7 AT AR AR A7 AT b-ys A7
At31December 2005and  WZFTHE
at 1 January 2006: TZA=t-A
RZEEnE
-A-R:
Cost or valuation REZEE 2,791,485 84,487,197 14,468,033 13345378 78,331,695 19,888,016 12,232,535 2,266,024 247,810,363
Accumulated depreciation RENE - (22,964,573) (13,162,146)  (9,814,683) - (15,405,227) (10,190,124) ~ (1,784,349) (73,321,102
Net carrying amount REFE 2,791,485 61,522,624 1305887 3,530,695 78,331,695 4,482,789 2,042,411 481,675 174,489,261
At 1 January 2006, netof ~ HZFEANE
accumulated depreciation -B-A"
NEEENE 2,791,485 61,522,624 1305887 3,530,695 78,331,695 4,482,789 2,042,411 481,675 174,489,261
Additions HE 29,438,993 908,005 126,070 979,073 1,681,514 4755455 1414130 102,304 39,405,544
Transfer g% (17,239,185) 2,063,429 - - 14,750,457 - 425,299 - -
Deficit on revaluation EfiER - - - - (6,991,597) - - - (6,991,597)
Depreciation provided EMRERR
during the year - (2,858,113) (1,029,631) (1,647,953)  (8,563,701) (1,632,169) (1,287,971)  (240,653) (17,260,191)
Exchange realignment EiRE 817,24 1,336,242 - - 85517 90 31,239 - 483991
At 31 December 2006, net  HZFZANE
of accumulated TZA=+-A
depreciation NEEENE 35,808,517 62,972,187 402326 2,861,815 81,863,545 7,606,165 2,625,108 343,326 194,482,989
At 31 December 2006: RZBENE
TZA=t-8:
Cost or valuation REEE 35,808,517 89,479,368 14,594,103 14324451 81,863 545 24,643,612 13,234,611 2,368,328 276,316,535
Accumulated depreciation giENE - (26,507,181) (14,191,777) (11,462,636 - (17,037,447) (10,609,503)  (2,025,002) (81,833,546)
Net carrying amount REFE 35,808,517 62,972,187 402326 2,861,815 81,863,545 7,606,165 2,625,108 343,326 194,482,989
Analysis of cost or valuation:  BEZ HEA :
At cost BRE 35,808,517 89,479,368 14,594,103 14,324,451 - 24643612 13,234,611 2,368,328 194,452,990
At 31 December 2006 R-ZE5E
valuation TZA=t-A
AR - - - - 81,863,545 - - - 81,863,545
35,808,517 89,479,368 14,594,103 14324451 81,863,545 24,643,612 13,234,611 2,368,328 276,316,535
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

14. Y% - WEMNRE (&)

Group - 31 December 2005
AEE-“RREETCA=T-R

Generation
plantand  Furniture,
landand  Leasehold  Plant and related fixtures and Tools and
Construction buildings improvements  machinery structure—— equipment Motor moulds
in progress 1 it KE %ERERER G- %E vehicles I Total
ERIR REF  WEkE REE  RERE Rit& HE REA it
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT BT AT AT AT BT AT AT
At 1 January 2005: RZZ2E0E
tzp=1-A:
Cost or valuation REZHEE 16,966,753 81,742,772 14163816 10,392,570 76,383,751 16,138,417 11,988,346 1,803,080 229,579,505
Accumulated depreciation ZiENE - (19,943,958 (12,137,658)  (7,970,936) - (13,943,466)  (8,920450)  (1,559,876) (64,476,344)
Net carrying amount REFE 16,966,753 61,798,814 2,026,158 2,421,634 76,383,751 2194951  3,067,8% 243,204 165,103,161
At 1 January 2005, netof  RZEFRE-A-8-
accumulated depreciation NBZERE 16,966,753 61,798,814 2,026,158 2,421,634 76,383,751 2194951  3,067,8% 243,204 165,103,161
Additions HE 8,965,075 696,804 304217 2952808 4088535 3,749,524 393,686 462,944 21,613,593
Disposals = - - - - - - (23,186) - (23,186)
Transfer g% (3,466,627) 1,016,625 - - 2,450,002 - - - -
Surplus on revaluation EfbR - - - - 199313 - - - 19313
Depreciation provided FRNERE
during the year - Q75681) (1,024,488) (1,843,747) (8,052,634)  (1,461,754) (1419,789)  (224,473) (16,742,566)
Exchange realignment EXAE 326,284 726,062 - - 1468918 68 23,804 - 2545136
At 31 December 2005, net ~ R=EZRF
of accumulated t2A=t-A
depreciation NBZERE 22,191485 61522624 1305887 3530695 78331695 4,482,789 2,042,411 481,675 174,489,261
At 31 December 2005: RZZ2E0E
tzp=1-A:
Cost or valuation REZHEE 22,191485 84487197 14,468,033 13345378 78331695 19,888,016 12232535 2,266,024 247810363
Accumulated depreciation ZiENE - (22.964573) (13,162,146)  (9,814,683) - (15,405,227) (10,190,124)  (1,784,349) (73,321,102)
Net carrying amount REFE 22,191485 61522624 1305887 3530695 78331695 4,482,789 2,042,411 481,675 174,489,261
Analysis of cost or valuation: ~ BEZ HEA :
At cost REE 2,791,485 84487197 14,468,033 13,345,378 - 19888016 12232535 2,266,024 169,478,668
At 31 December 2005 B-5%1%
valuation t-A=t-H
PA - - - - 1833169 - - - 78331695
22,191485 84487197 14,468,033 13345378 78331695 19,888,016 12232535 2,266,024 247810363
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y¥ - BMEMKE (Z)
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company - 31 December 2006
APA-—EEXRE+-A=1—H

Furniture,
fixtures and
Land and equipment Motor
building B RE vehicles Total
THRETF KRB RE CE
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
B B B B
At 31 December 2005 and RZZEZTHF
1 January 2006: +=-A=+-H
RZTERE
—RA—8:
Cost [R1E 12,750,000 1,434,389 780,000 14,964,389
Accumulated depreciation 2BHE (300,000) (605,031) (780,000) (1,685,031)
Net carrying amount EHEFE 12,450,000 829,358 - 13,279,358
At 1 January 2006, net of R-ZETRE
accumulated depreciation —RA—8"
nkEBHE 12,450,000 829,358 - 13,279,358
Additions NE - 50,510 331,547 382,057
Depreciation provided FRFTERE
during the year (300,000) (235,677) (82,887) (618,564)
At 31 December 2006, net RZEERE
of accumulated +=-R=+—-8"
depreciation NGREEHE 12,150,000 644,191 248,660 13,042,851
At 31 December 2006: RZZERE
+=ZA=+-8:
Cost [R1E 12,750,000 1,484,899 331,547 14,566,446
Accumulated depreciation 2BHE (600,000) (840,708) (82,887) (1,523,595)

Net carrying amount EHEFE 12,150,000 644,191 248,660 13,042,851
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. ¥M1% - MENRE (&)
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Company - 31 December 2005
ApR-—FTERFT-_A=1+—H
Furniture,
fixtures and

Land and equipment Motor

building B RE vehicles Total

T REF B "B B

HKS HKS HKS HK$

BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2005: RZZTREF
—HF—8:

Cost RE 12,750,000 551,948 780,000 14,081,948

Accumulated depreciation RENE - (375,498) (780,000) (1,155,498)

Net carrying amount REFE 12,750,000 176,450 = 12,926,450
At 1 January 2005, net of R_ETRE
accumulated depreciation —A—A"

Mk 2RHTE 12,750,000 176,450 = 12,926,450

Additions ANE - 882,441 - 882,441
Depreciation provided FRTERE

during the year (300,000) (229,533) = (529,533)
At 31 December 2005, net R -ZTTRHF

of accumulated +-A=+—H

depreciation mik2RHE 12,450,000 829,358 = 13,279,358

At 31 December 2005: R-ZZZTREF
+-A=+—H
Cost R{E 12,750,000 1,434,389 780,000 14,964,389
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE (300,000) (605,031) (780,000) (1,685,031)

Net carrying amount R FE 12,450,000 829,358 = 13,279,358
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y% - BMEMRZRE (2)
EQUIPMENT (continued)
An analysis of the Group’s and the Company’s land REBRARG Z T REF DT
and buildings is as follows: R
Group Company
KEH b N
2006 2005 2006 2005
—EEXRE —TTRF —EERE —ZTERF
HKS HK$ HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT
At cost, located in: REE IR :
Hong Kong, held under 5% - BERH
a long term lease BHFE 6,000,000 6,000,000 - =
Hong Kong, held undera &7 @ &+ H
medium term lease MOFHE 12,750,000 12,750,000 12,750,000 12,750,000
Mainland China, held under B R
a medium term lease WA EALEE 70,729,368 65,737,197 - -
89,479,368 84,487,197 12,750,000 12,750,000

The net book value of the Group's items of property,
plant and equipment held under a hire purchase
contract included in the total amount of motor vehicles
at 31 December 2006 amounted to HK$45,137 (2005:
HK$315,957).

HAZEERFETZA=+—80A
BEBEASEZEABEAREZ
M BEMXBEEEERDFER
451378 L (ZEZT A : 315,957

L)

o
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14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

At 31 December 2006, the Group's generation plant
and related structure was revalued at HK$81,863,545
(2005: HK$78,331,695) by BMI Appraisals Limited
(2005: Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited) on the open
market value and existing use basis, resulting in a
revaluation deficit of HK$6,991,597 (2005: revaluation
surplus of HK$1,993,123), of which a surplus of
HK$1,452,489 was credited to the property, plant and
equipment revaluation reserve (2005: deficit of
HK$21,363 charged to the property, plant and
equipment revaluation reserve) whereas the remaining
deficit of HK$8,444,086 was charged to the
consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 December 2006 (2005: surplus of HK$2,014,486
credited to the consolidated income statement).

Had these generation plant and related structure been
carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, their carrying amounts would
have been HK$68,816,073 (2005: HK$56,065,927).

At 31 December 2006, certain of the Group’s land and
buildings with a net book value of approximately
HK$41,938,104 (2005: HK$32,825,835) were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 37(a)(ii)). At 31 December 2005, certain
of the Group’s generation plant and related structure
with net book value of approximately HK$7,595,569
had been pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 37 (a)(iii)).

14.

M- BMENZE (&)

RZZEZERF+A=+—H " K
SEZREREREBRELSHERE
R EERAR (ZEEREF  hFE
FEERARZRAFAMERRAER
BEAEEITENHER81,863,545
BT (ZZEZRHF ¢ 78,331,695%
JC) - UL ELEEHEEE,991,597
BLT(ZZEZTRF : EHAK
1,993,123%7T) A 1,452,489
712755%*.#)\%% R 5= Tl =8 45 =
B (CEZTRF 21,3638 L2
JEHEBA%% iR 55 AN 5% Al A 4
M) - 5T 28,444,086/ T 2 &
BARBE—_ZZF+=_A=+
—BIEFEZEAETBERANR (Z
TERLE ¢ 2,014,48678 7T 2 Bt
ANERERER) o

Mz EBREREREBREARESL
BB 2B ERAEBEEBEEA
Bk AIBRECEHREEERSR
68,816,073 L (Z T T f F
56,065,927/ 7T) °

RZFZAF+=—A=+—H0 "'k
L FEA41,938,1048 (=TT H
% :32,825,835870) o AKEH T
THRIEFEEERE  EALAEE
FTE—REBTEEZER (M
31@)i) - R—_FEERF+_A=
+—H ' REFEA7,599,5697% T
ZAEBETERERE REBKE
KEER  (EARNSBATE KR
TIEEZER (B a31@)i0) °
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15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15. AT LB ER
Group
rEH
2006 2005
—ETXE —ZERF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—R—BZEEE 29,537,844 7,778,368
Exchange realignment MEH AR 958,538 1,014,034
Addition 0 - 21,698,113
Recognised during the year (note 6) FRER (K:t6) (957,163) (952,671)
Carrying amount at 31 December R—Z—A=+—HZE@EE 29,539,219 29,537,844
Current portion included in TEHBM - BEEBEMRE
prepayments, deposits and other 123 o H i fE U IR XA
receivables (960,338) (959,576)
Non-current portion FERBEBH 28,578,881 28,578,268
The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease ZMAE L IREBHEOT AL

and is situated in Mainland China. R B A -
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16. GOODWILL 16. B&

Group
rEE
HK$
BT

Cost and carrying amount RZZETHE—-H—AH -

at 1 January 2005, —EERFF+_HA=+—H8"

31 December 2005, —EERFEF—H—

1 January 2006 and :§$T¢+ A=+—HBz

31 December 2006 R1E & REFE 38,116,502

As further detailed in note 2.4 to the financial
statements, the Group applied the transitional
provisions of HKFRS 3 that permitted goodwill in
respect of business combinations which occurred prior
to 2001, to remain eliminated against consolidated
retained profits.

The amounts of goodwill remaining in consolidated
retained profits, arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries prior to the adoption of SSAP 30 in 2001,
were HK$162,134 as at 31 December 2005 and 2006.
The amount of goodwill is stated at its cost of
HK$162,134 which arose in years prior to 1 January
2005.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Hangzhou
Sealand Power Company Limited (“Hangzhou Sealand”)
has been allocated to the electric and steam power
supply cash-generating unit, one of the reporting
segments of the Group, for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the electric and steam
power supply cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 11%
(2005: 10%) and cash flows beyond the first five-year
period are extrapolated using a zero growth rate.

SR B TS RE M T2 AFT s - A
B 5K AT HKFRS 3#9E IR - % 1&
AT —_ET—FE2HEA02
BENAERABEHN NG -

RZEERFERZFTTAF+A
=t+—H ' WEHBAR (R=ZF
—F K SSAP 308 FTEE 2 &
MNARBEGREB T RN SRR
£162,134% 70 © 11£162,1348 7 2
BAEDINR_ZZERF—A—HBHAE
£ IR ANESE ©

8 R E R

WM & 5ﬁrﬂ$ﬁﬁﬁ/&7 (T AR

BE)MELEZRHEBEOREES
R ﬁzfﬁéﬁiﬁﬁ(ﬁﬁé‘%

BES—E2HDE) FERERD

BENNEAHEZRSCELE T
TH&@%Z%EE&EE%F{EJZ
ZEMREERASRETRAHE
MELBRARRBECEEERTER
HERFHMPBREMIE - FIEM
ZHEBREBNINB(ZTEZRF
10%) - BAAFHNESRERT
¥R R
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GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Key assumptions used in its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill are as
follows:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is
the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budgeted year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
units.

16. A& (&
BEZHEAR ()

ETRERENAZRSRERA
ez E2REMT :

BEENE-FREEMNKRZBUETS
REBEFEN—FMERNFS
EMNRFE  AHREBRRENRZE
o0 o

FTHRE-RFEB TR RTIRBA
YRMREBERNETZHERR
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

17. B2 A=

Company
KA F]
2006 2005
—EEXRE —ZETHEF
HKS$ HK$
#ET BT
Unlisted shares, at cost FEMARMD - RRE 277,877,823 277,877,800
Due from subsidiaries B BB A R R K 333,205,540 332,319,066
Due to subsidiaries RIS B A B 5RIE (13,000,000)  (13,000,000)
598,083,363 597,196,866
Less: Provision for impairment B R E X B A R
and amounts due from IR R B A
subsidiaries (243,376,497) (243,376,497)
354,706,866 353,820,369

The balances with the subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and are not expected to be repaid within
one year. In the opinion of the Company’s directors,
the amounts due from the subsidiaries are considered
as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiaries. The carrying
amounts of these amounts due from/to subsidiaries
approximate to their fair values.

HIMB AR ABZRERBELSELR
B REREAR-—FAEERE - K
RAEFERR  MBRRRFKAR
RAMBRBRERZ EESER -
HEBARRR RERRREZ
FREEEAEAFERES -
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. WE L BERE (&)
(continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBRAAGFHEROT :
Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid-up
Place of ordinary/ Percentage
incorporation/ registered of equity
registration share capital attributable to
and operations ERTRAR the Company Principal
Name EMEL/ LERE/ M NG N activities
1 SR EE LR REAZEE BEAML TEXH
Direct  Indirect
Ef GEE3
FEA Holdings Limited*  Cayman Islands/ US$18,880,000 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong 18,880,000% 7T REZER
ReHs/ 54
CATIC Helicopter PRC/Mainland HK$42,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Development China 42,000,0007% 70 RERR
(Shenzhen) Limited**  #h B/ B /9t
R B T A PR 7
(RY) BB AR
Billirich Investment Ltd.  British Virgin Islands/ US$1,000 100 - Investment holding
(“Billirich")? Hong Kong 1,000% 70 RERER
RERRBE /B
Better View Investment  Hong Kong/ HK$2 = 100 Property holding
Limited Mainland China 28T RENE
MARERRAA A/ HEARM
Far East Aluminium Hong Kong/ HK$2 - 100 Property holding
Works (Guangzhou) Mainland China 28T RENE
Company Limited A/ HEARM
BRAEIR
(BM)BRAF
FEA Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of
ERISXBBERDA &A 257 transportation services

REEG RS
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17.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

17. WMBABER (&)

(continued)
Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid-up
Place of ordinary/ Percentage
incorporation/ registered of equity
registration share capital attributable to
and operations ERTRAR the Company Principal
Name FME&L/ LERA /M KD FEGRA activities
#8 BN E-E$E RAZEHE EEEMHL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# EF
Far East Aluminium Hong Kong HK$90,500,000 = 100 Design, manufacture
Works Company B 90,500,000 1T and installation
Limited of curtain walls,
BRAETIRERAT aluminium windows
and other related
products
Rt BERTE
KBERR WA
REMEBER
Seniford Engineering Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Design, manufacture
Limited B BT and installation
SHNEIRBERAT of curtain walls,
aluminium windows
and other related
products
Rt BERTE
KBERR  WE
REMEHEM
Far East Aluminium Singapore SGD50,000 - 100 Design, manufacture
Works (Singapore) A3 50,0003 7T and installation
Pte. Ltd. of curtain walls,
aluminium windows
and other related
products
Rit - RERRE
RRER  BE
REMEHER
Netfortune Engineering  Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Design, manufacture
(FEA) Macau Limited* & 25,00070 5 % and installation

of curtain walls,
aluminium windows
and other related
products

Rt BERTE
BERRE #E
REMEBER
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. WE AR RERE (&)
(continued)
Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid-up
Place of ordinary/ Percentage
incorporation/ registered of equity
registration share capital attributable to
and operations ERTRAR the Company Principal
Name BT/ LERA /M KAREERA activities
3] ERREXLE BE2EE REFGL TERH
Direct Indirect
Ef B &
Heng Fai International  British Virgin Islands/ HK$1,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Ltd.* Mainland China 1,000 T curtain walls,
RERLZES/PERM aluminium windows
and other related
products
RERBERE 0E
REMEBEM
Netfortune Limited Hong Kong/ HK$500,000 - 100 Installation of
NEERDF Mainland China 500,000/ & curtain walls
BB/ PENM and aluminium
windows
RERERBEREE
Netfortune (Shanghai) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 - 96.25 Design, manufacture
Aluminium Works MmE /R E R 10,000,0007C A R 1 and installation of
Company Limited**# curtain walls,
LBHEERETR aluminium windows
BR AR ** and other related
products
Rt RERLE
BEER #BE
REMBBER
Hangzhou Sealand***#*  PRC/Mainland China RMB68,000,000 = 70 Generation and
UM g g vt B/ E R 68,000,0007 A R % sale of electric

and steam power

HEERBETNREN
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

17. WMBABER (&)

(continued)
Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid-up
Place of ordinary/ Percentage
incorporation/ registered of equity
registration share capital attributable to
and operations ERTRAR the Company Principal

Name FME&L/ LERA /M KD FEGRA activities

£ BN E-E$E RAZEHE EEEMHL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# B &

Far East Aluminum United States of US$200,000 = 100 Design, manufacture
Works (U.S.) America 200,0003% ¢ and installation
Corporation* EXE of curtain walls,

aluminum windows
and other related
products
it - B
RERBER
BEREMARER
@ CATIC Helicopter Development (Shenzhen) Limited is @ R E A T AR OFYI) AR A A
registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under RIERBOEBIGEM A ZINE R ZE -
PRC law.
e Netfortune (Shanghai) Aluminium Works Company oD EENEREIRERATARERBE

Limited is registered as a co-operative joint venture

under PRC law.

**%  Hangzhou Sealand is registered as a foreign investment

enterprise under PRC law.

& Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other

Ernst & Young International member firms.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

* % %

ERIMEERRE

PlEfMaeEREnE -

N BB R IR R BUE B M R INE B

Z o

WML KB B REM L KBRZKE

1z o

BYEANFEEEL

BAAREEEEFETERND 2 AR BMH
BAR - EEZRRMWAINEMMEARE
K@i UK o
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. BE&E N TR
Group
REE
2006 2005
—EEREF —TERF
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 45,199,422 110,692,346
Goodwill on acquisition W E 2,936,264 2,936,264
48,135,686 113,628,610

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Particulars

of issued
shares/registered
share capital

Place of
incorporation/
registration

TEBHEQAFHEOT

Percentage of

ownership
attributable
to the Group

Name BRITRE/ MR/ AEEELEE Principal activities
a5 ZfEx i 2 BREAL TEER
2006 2005
“EERE  C-TEnE
China Nav-Info Co., Ltd.*  Registered PRC 28.71 28.71  Manufacture of
TRE#EEFERES share capital of ~ FE location-based
BirBRA > RMB63,400,000 navigation products
F &R and provision of
63,400,0007C related services
N EEEMERERR
RERERS
CATIC Siwei Co., Ltd.* Registered PRC 40 40 Provision of
MEMEERERAR*Y  share capital of aero-photographic

RMBS6,758,150
AR
56,758, 1507C
ARE

services

REMZRY RS
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. k& N EHER (&)
(continued)
Particulars Percentage of
of issued Place of ownership
shares/registered incorporation/ attributable
share capital registration to the Group
Name RORE/ MK/ AEEELFEE Principal activities
=1 dMEX ot i 3t B BRAGY TEEH
2006 2005
Z¥E¥RE _TTIF
Sino Gas* Ordinary shares Hong Kong - 26.42  Trading of conversion
(notes 20 and 26) of HK$0.02 each & parts and gas station
Hh R g LRk ER equipment and the
(K320 %26) 0.02/8 T operation of natural
gas stations
EEEBRTHR
TN H U =% 1%&
BERRRIA
REBEMENMB  Registered PRC 21 ~  Trading of ironware,
AR DA share capital of coal and other
RMB5,000,000 chemical products
& A EEL®  HRKERK
5,000,0007C it TEm
AR
Ning Bo Dawn Registered PRC 20 - Research and
Aerospace Bio-Science  share capital of development of
Developing Co., Ltd.* ~ RMB20,000,000 biological products
ERRFAMAEN  ZRER 7 RFEEYER
MEFREERAF* 20,000,000
AR
@ Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other A IF B &K B A H i & ok B R

Ernst & Young International member firms.

& During 2005, Billirich, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, through acquisitions and a subsequent
subscription arrangement, acquired an aggregate of
2,655,000,000 ordinary shares of Sino Gas,
representing approximately 26.42% of the then issued
share capital of Sino Gas which was then accounted
for as an associate of the Group in the prior year.

ZREERZ ©

R-ZTZTARF  ARA—KRE2E
B B A BIBillirich 4% 38 U 8 & b5 18
ZRBRER  KEAHK
2,655,000,000/8% /i R gt I i@
BRER 17 - K9tk PR REE B B 1TR
N26.42% - T HF JH R B Bl AR
ABAEBEZHENR -
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(continued)

The total consideration paid by the Group for the
above acquisitions together with the direct
professional fee amounting to HK$67,678,604 and
the related excess over the costs of acquisition of this
associate of HK$6,069,856 was recognised as income
in the consolidated income statement during the year
ended 31 December 2005.

During the year ended 31 December 2006, the Group'’s
interest in Sino Gas had been diluted to 19.99%
through various capital transactions of Sino Gas,
including certain placement of shares, and the exercise
of certain options by its employees and consultants.
A gain on deemed disposal of the Group’s interest in
Sino Gas amounting to HK$22,030,133 was derived
and was credited to the Group’s consolidated income
statement for the year.

Having considered that the Group can no longer
exercise significant influence over Sino Gas, the Group
discontinued the use of the equity method to account
for the Group’s interest in Sino Gas during the year
and the Group’s investment in Sino Gas shares has
therefore been accounted for as a financial asset at
the balance sheet date (notes 20 and 26).

The above table lists the associates of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
associates would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

18. BMERNAIER (&)

REEFNA EWBEHRZF 28R
BEREEZXEERA
67,678,604 Jr - A UL AR B
A AR 2 517 £ 6,069,856/
T EREE_ETERF+_A
=+—HIEFERNELEEFBER
ERAWA o

RBE_ZEERE+_A=+—
HIEFE - LR mREZ XK
AR5 (BEETER ARERE
BREMITET S THERE K&
SERFRREZ B WET
£19.99% * FA - KBHEHEA
HEHE QAR EE 2 FE
22,030,133 7T ' EFtAREE
RAEFBERA -

40 B N5 B 1 B BB AR 2R
BIBESATE  AEERFRE
PR S R A R B AN A B R
Bz iR o At - REER

REBRBHREZZECES
MBEERE (F1:20%26) °

FRINHEERRIBEHELRFE
XEPBRASBEEEFETER
2 AER
iﬂﬁ@%ﬁﬂjéﬂhﬂﬁﬁ

BMENA - EER /M
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18.

19.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. Bt&E A vlfER (&
(continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINEHAEREE S R RRNEER
information of the Group’s associates at the balance MEE_ZTTNFR_TTRF+
sheet dates and for the years ended 31 December 2006 ZA=T—BIEFEZHBERE
and 2005: Z
2006 2005
—EERE —EERF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Assets BE 236,709 633,207
Liabilities BfE (68,676) (180,788)
Revenues W &5 155,406 225,448
Profit/(loss) wm ) (E18) (113,478) 21,789
FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT 19. lBBEC1202 K EE

EC120

The balance represents the carrying value of the Group’s
interest in 80% of CATIC's interest in the net income
in relation to Project EC120 which was acquired from
CATIC in 2002. Project EC120 is a jointly-controlled
operation established in October 1992 by CATIC in
co-operation with Eurocopter S.A. and Singapore
Aerospace Ltd., both independent third parties, to
develop, manufacture and globally distribute the multi-
purpose EC120 helicopters.

CATIC's net income derived from Project EC120 is
limited to CATIC's share of income, net of all expenses,
to be derived from its interest in Project EC120 in
relation to (i) the sale and production of parts and
spares of helicopters and profits accrued to CATIC from
the sale of helicopters globally; (ii) the recovery of
non-recurring costs accrued to CATIC; (iii) commission
income accrued to CATIC from the sale of helicopters
by CATIC; and (iv) administrative income accrued to
CATIC from the operations of Project EC120.

ERIEAEER ST _FH{PM
R@NFIFBZEBECI20EE Z
FUWA 2 80% RS 2 ERIREE °
HBECI20@—HR —AAZF+
AEREPMREAREBYE =%
Eurocopter S.A.} Singapore
Aerospace Ltd.fk 37z £ [F 2 # 18
B-ZZRRAERBLIERSER
T SUE N 2K HECI208 5} 2
SRBEEH -

R AR RIREIEEECI202 %
WA BRRARMEBLARLEEE
EC120# s FTEEE Z FE{E LA RN IE B
ZWACRFTBRE) : (VEERE
EEAETEGT &EPﬁnEzi@“
BRIKHEEAK 2 EREF (i)
Y 18] A T 3 @“Trﬁzati«“ﬁﬁ
A (it AR A RS E B A
ZHMBEBAREFASKA &
(V)P 8 A FRIE B EC120% 8
ZIEFTEEIA -
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FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT
EC120 (continued)

As the investment represents a contractual right to

19.

receive cash in the future from another enterprise,
the investment has been classified as a non-current
available-for-sale financial asset and stated at fair
value, by using discounted cash flow analysis.

During the year, having considered the future cash
flow and profit forecasts of Project EC120, the
directors made a provision for impairment of
HK$4,800,000 (2005: HK$3,000,000) which was
charged to the consolidated income statement in
the current year.

The cost less accumulated impairment losses of the
financial asset is analysed as follows:

HBECI202 T B EE
(&

HRZEREREAEARS —RE#ER
BIRE 2 A HNER ik ZIREE D
ERERD TR HENNBEE - ¥
BERKAFRRERESTELEZA
FEYIE -

FR - EEFBEBECI20Z KA RS
RERBFERE BEBEEELRE
% 4,800,000 L (Z SR F
3,000,000 7T) * REANBE&RE AE
=INK o

PREEZRERZEREEBEZD
T

Group
RKEE
HK$
BT
Cost: RE :
At 1 January 2006 RZZEZEREF—H—BK
and 31 December 2006 —EERF+A=+—H 39,759,462
Accumulated impairment: ZERE :
At 1 January 2006 RZZTZERFEF—H—H 9,000,000
Impairment during the year FARE 4,800,000
At 31 December 2006 RZEERFE+=-_A=+—8H 13,800,000
Fair value: NEE
At 31 December 2006 R-BEEXFEF+=-HA=+—H 25,959,462
At 31 December 2005 RZEBEZERF+_A=+—H 30,759,462
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20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

20. IHEENRE

REE
2006 2005
—EEXREF —EERF
HK$ HK$
Eor BT
Non-current: JEMED
Listed equity investment REZEZ L™
in Hong Kong, fRAEZE
at fair value, transferred BAFEE -
from interest in an EEpi RN
associate (note 18)* e A (faE18)* 79,887,500 =
Unlisted investments, FELEMHE -
at fair value: EAFEE:
Club debentures 2HES 380,000 960,000
Guaranteed funds and RAE S
certificates of deposits PEEE &S 10,834,600 9,106,600
91,102,100 10,066,600
Current: mE
Unlisted investments, ELEMEE @ AT E
at fair value:
Guaranteed funds and RAEE RFHE
certificates of deposits - 11,702,100
@ As a result of the Group’s loss of significant influence G AN B 7S R R Y 18T RF AR - AR

over Sino Gas during the year as detailed in note 18
to the financial statements, the directors have
designated the Group’s investment in Sino Gas
according to its investment strategy such that 10%
equity interest in Sino Gas out of the 19.99% interest
stated at the then carrying value of HK$42,090,544
was designated as an available-for-sale investment.
According to the Group’s accounting policy, the fair
value gain of such investments amounting to
HK$37,796,956 has been recognised directly in equity.

During the year, the gross loss of other available-for-
sale investments of the Group recognised directly in
equity amounted to HK$612,000 (2005: Nil).

The above investments consist of investments in equity
securities which were designated as available-for-sale
investments and have no coupon rate.

SERFEREFRREEEKRT
BAFEN At EBERLE
RS AR RRAEZ IR EDHE - 1
Fr##919.99% K Fp i 2 AL i 25
B HE AR 10% (K@ B A
42,090,544 7T) 15 € A A £ 1
EMRE - BREAEEZ 2K
O RREBEZAFEENE
37,796,956/ L B B B R E S FE

5
=7
. ©

FR - AEEEEEESERZE
AR ENREZERERA
612,000 T (ZEZRHF : &) -

NEREBRBAFESFNRE - %
FREEWREER/AFRKENKRE

N7 &= 97
NI BEEBEK -
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AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(continued)

The fair value of a listed equity investment is based on
quoted market value. The fair values of unlisted
available-for-sale equity investments have been
estimated using a valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The directors believe that the
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
balance sheet, and the related changes in fair values
and impairment loss, which are recorded in the
consolidated equity and income statement, respectively,
are reasonable, and that they are the most appropriate
values at the balance sheet date.

Certain of the Group’s unlisted investments amounting
to HK$10,834,600 (2005: HK$20,808,700) have been
pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 37(a)(iv)).

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the Group’s deferred tax assets and
liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

20. AAHHENKRE (8)

EARAKREZ A FETDRETS
WEME - FFLWAHEENERA
BREZRFELNBEERMRE
BRBMEFTHE  MZFRRLED
BRMGERAEIE -EFMH
ERZEEXMAFE L 2[R
FERERGEAEERFBR) kM
X HEZE MREER (D5
BREEES RFER) 26EA

THRGEBERRAEZ(EE-

AEEET A LEE10,834,600

T (ZZTZERFE : 20,808,700 1)
ZHEEMEEBEBTRT  EA
AEFERE TRTRE 2|8 (Ff
#31(a)(iv)) °

21. IEEEFH 8
AREBEEHBEEEBERFRN
ZEBIME
EEBBEE

Group - 2006

AEE-—Z2ZXEF
Losses available
for offset
against future
taxable profit

] F 1 3K 88 R 2R Others Total
R ER ZEE Ht |t
HKS$ HKS$ HK$
#E T BT &
At 1 January 2006 R-ZZEZRF—H—H 4,110,862 495,527 4,606,389
Deferred tax charged to & W{EF|HRN% 2
the income statement IR RE R I8 *
during the year* (410,862) (495,527) (906,389)
Gross deferred tax RZEBEZERE+_A
assets at =t+t—HZ
31 December 2006 JEAE TR T8 & = 4B FE 3,700,000 - 3,700,000
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21.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

21.

EEBIE (&)

EEREEE
Group - 2006

A EE -
Revaluation of
property, plant
and equipment

ZREAE

BEHWE - Others Total
B ERMZE Hh & st
HK$ HK$ HK$
T BT BT
At 1 January 2006 R-_ZTEZFE—H—H 6,401,374 (317,309) 6,084,065
Deferred tax charged/ FREFBERMNE,
(credited) to the income (5t A) Z iE {EFi 78 *
statement during
the year* (1,889,465) 317,309 (1,572,156)
Gross deferred tax R-ZTBEZERE+_A
liabilities at =t+—HZEE
31 December 2006 IR B EAERE 4,511,909 - 4,511,909
Net deferred tax RZZEZERF+_A
liabilities at = t+t—HZEE
31 December 2006 HIEEEFRE 811,909
* Total deferred tax credited to the income statement & BE-_ZZF+=-_A=+—H

during the year ended 31 December 2006 was
HK$665,767 (note 10).

Deferred tax assets

48
fiio

FEEMBRGFAZBELERIE
%A /665,767 7T (K1:£10) -

FEERBEEE

Group -
——FTHEF

RE
Losses available
for offset
against future
taxable profit

2005

Al A EH 8H
N 2R ER AR Others Total
i A 2 B 18 H A & &t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2005 —EERF—H—H 6,410,862 495,527 6,906,389
Deferred tax charged to EWE?‘J B
the income statement k2
during the year* % JE B I8 * (2,300,000) — (2,300,000)
Gross deferred tax R_ZEZERFE+_HA
assets at =+—H2
31 December 2005 RIETIE & &= H 5 4,110,862 495,527 4,606,389
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DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

ELERIE (&)
EEBEBEEE

Group — 2005
KREB -—_ZTTHE
Revaluation of

property, plant
and equipment

21.

EHYE - Others Total
8% 55 A0 7% 1 H =
HK$ HKS$ HKS$
BT BT AT
At 1 January 2005 R-ZZEZRF—HA—H 5,905,032 (311,322) 5,593,710
Deferred tax charged to & A ZEFE &
the income statement Hkr 2
during the year* i 3 B 18 * 496,342 - 496,342
Exchange realignment & H - (5,987) (5,987)
Gross deferred tax R-ZEZERFE+ A
liabilities at =+—HZ
31 December 2005 BN I B EAARE 6,401,374  (317,309) 6,084,065
Net deferred tax R-ZEZERFE+ A
liabilities at =+—HZ
31 December 2005 BN IE B EF 1,477,676
@ Total deferred tax charged to the income statement @ HE—_ZTZZTHRF+-_A=1+—H

during the year ended 31 December 2005 was
HK$2,796,342 (note 10).

At 31 December 2006, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of HK$1,961,200 (2005: HK$23,491,000)
and in the United States of HK$11,192,000 (2005: Nil)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of certain subsidiaries in which
the losses arose. As the Group expects that the
subsidiary will have sufficient taxable profits generated
in the future to utilise these tax losses, a deferred tax
asset has been recognised.

I FEEF BRI ZEERE
4 %8 52,796,3427% T (Mt 7
10) °

RZBZERF+=ZA=+—H 'K
EETARARFREELECTHIEER
71,961,200 T (Z T A F -
23,491,000/ 7t) % 11,192,000/ 7T
(ZZZRF &)  FATRERED
BEBEz2AE THE QR ZRRER
MamF - AR ANEBEERZNE A
RIEB#REERAERSENEA
ZEHBAEE  MHELHEEE
& pE i iR o
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 December 2006, the Group also had aggregate
tax losses arising in Hong Kong, in the PRC and in the
United States of HK$25,897,308 (2005:
HK$18,447,162) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 December 2006, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2005: Nil) for taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries or associates as the
Group has no liability to additional tax should such
amounts be remitted.

At the balance sheet date, the Company did not have
any significant temporary differences for which deferred
tax assets/liabilities were not provided.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to
the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

22. INVENTORIES

21.

22.

IEEB IR (5)

R-ZTEXRE+_A=+—H  &&
BEBE PRRERELEZHIEE
B4 5258973088 L (ZEEH
118,447,162/ 7T) + Al FA{EHEHE
REBE AR ZRRERFEF o AR
ZEFEBERERSHALREEZHNE
~Na) MBI A R RE A E AR
FIAHB) AR IEEE - WL W ERER
FIETIIEE E o

RZBEERF+_A=+—8 " U&E
RAEEETHEARKBERRZ
R H & A A 2 B IR A E AR
REEHEEEBE(ZSTHF + &) -
AR ASEEEEL A RRY
BEEMBIREES -

% FE B ARBAEARBIELER IR
E/BBEBEBZANERERZE
%

AN B [0 A% BROIE 3 A% B 3 42 B s E fa]
MEFBSR -

rE
Group
%
2006 2005
ZEEREF S S
HK$ HK$
E T BT

Raw materials =g
Sub-materials 2l B

15,431,748 11,604,022
191,911 1,343

15,623,659 11,605,365
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23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) 23. EHNEERR (REH
CONTRACT CUSTOMERS EFMHE)
Group
rEH
2006 2005
ZEERF —EERF
HKS$ HK$
ET BT
Gross amounts due from EHEF
contract customers RRBRR 70,550,508 72,904,015
Gross amounts due to REHEP
contract customers RIB LA (113,568,100) (103,165,723)

(43,017,592) (30,261,708)

Contract costs incurred to date REREZEENES
on long term construction B4 2 Hn
contracts plus attributable & 45 5 AR
profits, less foreseeable losses A AR 2 &8 2,677,170,878 2,753,915,461

Less: Progress payments received AW B R
and receivable JE W AE 2R (2,720,188,470) (2,784,177,169)

(43,017,592) (30,261,708)

24. TRADE AND RETENTION 24. EIWESGRIARRE €
RECEIVABLES

Group
REE

2006 2005

—EERE —ZETRF

HK$ HK$

B BT

Trade receivables FEUWE 5 IR K 169,903,692 136,287,180

Retention receivables & AR E & 81,824,270 76,515,030

251,727,962 212,802,210
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24. TRADE AND RETENTION 24.

RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the

FBUEZRERERE S
(&)

REER  BRESRFIRERER

balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as HZEREoMOT :
follows:
Group
rEH
2006 2005
—EEXRE —ZETREF
HK$ HK$
#ET BT
Current B HA 130,271,356 112,643,036
31 - 60 days 31-60H 35,819,695 21,522,318
61 — 90 days 61-90H 2,082,328 1,277,929
Over 90 days 90H KA k 1,730,313 843,897

169,903,692 136,287,180

Retention receivables represent certified contract
payments in respect of works performed, for which
payments are withheld by customers for retention
purposes, and are released to the Group pursuant to
the provisions of the relevant contracts after the
completion of the projects in question. No aged analysis
of retentions receivable is presented as the amount
retained is provided for on each payment up to a
maximum amount calculated on a prescribed
percentage of the contract sum.

RURECEAEFRECHER
TEREHNTIIREE YEREFH
BHZHRERBBZHBE ZREHE
BMTIAKHE - ARREZIRES
REXNIREFRFE  REKZEAR
HMEBMZETEDL  SULYEZ2
5l W AR B & 2 BRER D AT ©
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TRADE AND RETENTION
RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trade receivables mainly represent progress
payments receivable from facade building contracting
works. The Group adopts credit policies which are
consistent with the trade practices prevalent in the
building industry in Hong Kong. The Group recognises
its trade receivables when the value of the subcontract
works is certified by the architect. Pursuant to the trade
practices, the main contractor from time to time makes
applications for payment certificates which include the
certified value of the nominated subcontract works.
Normally within 14 days of receipt by the main
contractor of the payment from the employer against
the payment certificate from the architect, the main
contractor shall pay to the subcontractors the certified
value of their subcontract works, less amounts
previously paid and retentions attributable to the
subcontract works as explained above.

The normal credit term of trade receivables from the
sale of electric and stream power is 60 days.

Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amounts of the trade receivables approximate
to their fair values.

24.

FBUEZRERERE S
(&)

AEBEEE SRR T EHET
R EIME 5 T 12 2 J8 W B 3R
A AREMRAZEERRTIE
EEARKTERARZEEED -
AEBERZEMERDHTIRZ(E
B - BRKESRKXEDAR -
RIBITREN - BAEBTRRE
EDHBZIREBREANTIRE
NHREBAEZHF - BAEEH R
ERRIBEEME A 2 TIENRE
RERETWRHIRIARA - @D H
BXNEAEAMER 2 H TR
BREECHKR LA TIEEN
ZeBNME 2 RES) ©

HEBNREAZEBKREZERRZ
EEH—-RRB60R -

BUEFPHRERANEERE - &
S BB KRB E 2 BYGKIAE R
BREE YHEFEEER
i BEERREEZRZE BES
EBERmataiigEes o ENALMR
ARAEEZEWE SERTIKA
REDHMZEFPNEE AL E
BEAEEETRAR - BWE SRR
WESEFE - BKRESHERZE
mEREAFERES -
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25.

PREPAYMENT AND RELATED
RECEIVABLE IN RESPECT OF AN
EXCLUSIVE DISTRIBUTORSHIP

The amount related to a payment of US$5,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$39,000,000) (the
“Prepayment”) made by the Company and the Group
to a third party pursuant to an agreement for the
exclusive distributorship of 20 helicopter engines
produced and sold until 31 December 2006.

Pursuant to the agreement, a discount of US$300,000
was made by the third party to the Group for each of
the first 20 helicopter engines sold by the Group such
that the Group would have at least recovered a total
of US$6,000,000 from the third party for sale under
the exclusive distributorship. Besides, the third party
also agreed that the annualised return to the Group
on the Prepayment shall not be less than 8% per
annum. According to such terms, an accumulated
income of US$800,000 (equivalent to HK$6,239,995)
was accrued up to 31 December 2005. As at 31
December 2006, all 20 helicopter engines were sold
and the balance of the income of US$200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,560,005) (2005:
US$400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,119,995)) (note 5), was recorded as other income
for the year. The exclusive distributorship expired on
31 December 2006 and all the related receivables were
settled by the third party.

The receivable in respect of the exclusive distributorship
of certain helicopters engines as at 31 December 2005
of HK$38,219,995 represented the Prepayment of
HK$39,000,000 and accumulated accrued income of
HK$6,239,995, less cash receipts during the year ended
31 December 2005 of HK$7,020,000 received from
CATIC who was designated by the third party to receive
the receivable on behalf of the Company.

25.

72 85 T A =K
*EEEZEEH&:A

X I8 K

e BIERAR R RASEIRE
EB06N_EEF+_A=+
—HAEERLEZEAKSIZZ
BROBEEZBHEISXNFT %=
# 2 7 ¥E5,000,0003% 7T (M HZER
39,000,000% 7T) (EftFRIE]) °

BiEZE  ZE=BRERASE
BHEZF M08 EAKIIER
& 6 300,000F T 2 ITHH T A S
R AEERBBER S HE
ETZHEEBAIRZE=ZAELIK
B4 #£6,000,000E 7T © kAN © % F
=ENRE  AEEZRENHKEZ
EMAEBFRRET DRFEF
NE - BEEZHZE  EE_TTH
FE+-_A=+—H8  Bitiez &
I A % 800,0003% Tt (#H & K
6,239,995 7T) c RZZEZERNF+
—A=+—8  2%20&8EHF#3|
ZEHE - WA ZEREE200, ooo%fc
(K9 ZEM1,560,00587T) (==

F & : 400,000% T (448 ﬁﬁé
3,119,995% 7t) ) (A1at5) B st AR
FHMPAR - ZBRDHEED R
—EERE+_A=+t—HE®"

ERBZRERACAZE=E
BIE o

56_7 ERETA=1T—"HEH

ATEHAMSIZBRDHEEIE
U 3k 718 /538,219,9958 7T » JhE it
X 739,000,000/ 7T & 2 & A
6,239,995 TR E IF — T T A F+
ZA=+—HLEFERHPMEE
NAE) (% B =F B EHNRAR FUER
7 FE W FkI8) YERIR € 7,020,000/%
=
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EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

26. EPBEHERQIFEIE

HRAKRE

2006 2005
—EEX —EERF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Listed equity investment MEB 2 ETRA
in Hong Kong, at fair value, ®E - BAFE -
transferred from an interest in E=2R RN
an associate (note 18) A (it 18) 79,887,500 -

As a result of the Group’s loss of significant influence
over Sino Gas during the year as detailed in notes 18
and 20 to the financial statements, the directors have
designated 9.99% equity interest in Sino Gas out of
the 19.99% interest stated at the then carrying value
of HK$42,090,544 as an equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss. Such equity investment, upon
initial recognition, is designated as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss as it is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented investment strategy of
the Group to focus on the aero-technology related
business. Such designation is in line with the Group’s
strategy and increased its flexibility on resources
allocation. Any fair value gains or losses on these
investments are recognised in the income statement.
During the year, a fair value gain of HK$37,796,956
has been credited to the consolidated income
statement.

%&ﬁuutﬂﬁ%iﬁ%%w%m&zoﬁﬁﬁ

o AEBRFREPHREDE
%TEK 2 EEREBHIESR
BIRERERS HENER @ £
45 #919.99 % &Y H i 2 BE 4 25 A HL
F9.99%[% AN #E &= (Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁj
42,090,544 7T) HEE ABBIBRIE
ﬁ%@ﬂ@m%$&ﬁom%$%
B S E A i ST AE R E
BERBEZEXNEEBXXMH @ ZBRA
BENRFEREMRETE BT
ZERE ARG RERAKREEE
RBEBEEATEINENTEE
F D FEEARE B 2 KB — 2

Bt mERDEEMEEM - (£
mm%&ﬁmﬂiﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
RABERER - FA - AFEFNE
37,796,956/ L B &t AR & F 8
gg °
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27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

27. B RBEEEEHD K

AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS iR
Group Company
58 N
2006 2005 2006 2005
“EERE “TTRE ZEERE “ZELE
HKS HK$ HKS HK$
BT T B T
Time deposits EHRR 108,613,856 97,440,091 35,207,882 -
Less: Pledged long term time  Jii : AR BT HER
deposits (note 31(a)(v)) (Bf£31(a)(v) (9,360,000)  (10,000,000) - -
Pledged short term time BEARSETHER
deposits (note 31(a)(v)) (Hz£31(a)(v)) (64,045,974)  (44,811,621) - =
35,207,882 42,628,470 35,207,882 -
Cash and bank balances BeRFTER 76,884,259 42,638,314 6,256,523 5,202,494
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEE 112,092,141 85,266,784 41,464,405 5,202,494

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances
and the time deposits of the Group denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to HK$61,986,600 (2005:
HK$69,989,668). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and
three months depending on the immediate cash
requirement of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The carrying
amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and the
pledged deposits approximate to their fair values.

REER  AEBUARKEEE 2
& RIRIT4E 4 R61,986,600% T
—ETTFHF : 69,989,6688 L) °
ARBRIEHERAHEMER -
SR T AR 45 P B A b 2 HNFE B B K45
MEE SERNESERE @ &N
SEAFREREETINER R
RITHARBLBAEMEY -

RITEFFREARTHERNERAE
MFEBFEREFR - RFAEEMA
BREFR FENF—BE=E
AETRBRMNEHERER - A
REREHERFERMNEGFE - B
MR EEFEAREEFFROE
mEREAFERES -
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TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is

28.

BREZERERAREE

REER  BNEZERIARERE
HRAYPZRESNAT ¢

as follows:

Group

KEE
2006 2005
—EERE —ETTRF
HK$ HK$
E T BT
Current B HA 99,604,768 94,738,570
31 - 60 days 31-60H 5,600,765 1,028,196
61 — 90 days 61-90H 434,094 198,465
Over 90 days 90H KA k 3,929,066 2,481,959
109,568,693 98,447,190

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on 90-day terms. The carrying amounts
of the trade payables approximate to their fair values.

WARRANTY PROVISION

HZEERNEZGERD TR - L —
RIZOBHIRBE - BNEBER
MEEEREAFERS -

29. REREE

Group

rEH
2006 2005
—EEXRE —ZETHEF
HK$ HK$
H#E T AT
At 1 January m—A—H 10,230,124 12,368,283
Additional provision (note 6) BINEAE (BT 26) 3,920,000 435,200
Amount utilised during the year FRNEFAHZ2EEE (3,848,637) (2,573,359)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 10,301,487 10,230,124

The Group provides warranties to its customers on
facade contracting works in accordance with terms and
conditions as stipulated in contracts, under which
defective works are rectified or replaced. The amount
of the warranty provision is estimated based on the
past experience of the level of defective works and
the estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis
and revised where appropriate.

AEBEIZE DR E Z GRRMRM 5
SR TRRAMETEFIRHMAE -
Bt AREZIESTFEERE
e RERBIEBEDNEBETS
WIRR &8 T UM - Atz &
ETRFEEET UARF RRNEE

B R 5T -
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31.

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HitENRIERETER
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an HiEAZEDTEE - FHHER
average term of three months. The carrying amounts R=EH - BB KIEZ BREE
of other payables approximate to their fair values. HEANFEMES -
INTEREST-BEARING BANK 31. sFEH|ITER
BORROWINGS

Group Company
Effective r& Y N

interest rate(%) Maturity 2006 2005 2006 2005

EEA=E (%) -G ZEERE _ZTTHE ZEBERE _TTRE

HKS HK$ HKS HK$

BT BT BT BT
Import loans - secured Prime-0.5 Within one year
EOER-BHA REEHNE-05 or on demand

~FRIRERE 47,476,134 37,784,356 - -
Bank loans - secured HIBOR+1.75 to 6.73  Within one year
RITER - BHH BRBRTRE or on demand

FB+17586.73 —FRHABRE 120,137,749 118,557,692 20,000,000 35,000,000

167,613,883 156,342,048 20,000,000 35,000,000

The Group's banking facilities are secured by:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

a pledge of the Group’s and the Company’s
investment property with carrying value of
HK$14,900,000 (2005: HK$14,900,000) (note
13);

pledges of certain of the Group’s land and
buildings with an aggregate net book value of
approximately HK$41,938,104 (2005:
HK$32,825,835) (note 14);

pledges of certain of the Group’s generation
plant and related structure with an aggregate
net book value of nil (2005: HK$7,595,569)
(note 14);

pledges of certain of the Group’s available-for-
sale investments amounting to HK$10,834,600
(2005: HK$20,808,700) (note 20);

AEBZRITEETDATIEEE
RPER

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

WIRAEB R ARRREE
14,900,000 T (Z 2 ZF H
£F 1 14,900,000/ 70) 2R E&
Y (BfaE13)

BRAAEEEEFEAED
41,938,104 L (ZEZF 1
% :32,825,835B L) 2 AT
T REF (FFaE14)

EHRAEEEEFERES
m(ZEZERF + 7,595,569
BL)Z2ATREREREGR
=i (Krat14)

AR A& E A 2010,834,600
Brx (ZEFZF R F
20,808,700/ 7T) 2 & T o]
LERIRE (ffiF20)
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS (continued)

(v)

(vii)

pledges of certain of the Group’s long term and
short term time deposits amounting to
HK$9,360,000 (2005: HK$10,000,000) and
HK$64,045,974 (2005: HK$44,811,621) (note
27), respectively;

corporate guarantees amounting to an
aggregate of HK$185,000,000 (2005:
HK$185,000,000) executed by the Company
(note 39); and

the Group’s short term bank loans of
RMB71,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$71,215,139) were guaranteed by #i /I B 1A
HmBERAR, BETEBREERAAE, M
MR R E AR AR, T ZEERREER QG M
TEBRERMERAR NI EREXZERA
A and /1B AEEIE AR A A, independent
third parties (2005: short term bank loans of
RMB76,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$73,557,692) guaranteed by #iT 8 R E %
BRAR, MINEBEMBFRQ A, fiMEH
SEBFRAF, MMEEDNREERAA, BEM
EERBEFRAAMIEEBHELRBERA
Al and WMIEERZEDREBERA A,
independent third parties).

Except for the secured bank loans of RMB100,538,300
(equivalent to HK$100,137,749) which is denominated
in RMB, all other bank borrowings are in Hong Kong

dollars.

31.

St ERITER (&)

(v)

(vii)

EHRAXERLEHE D H
9,360,000 (ZEZAF :
10,000,000 7Tt ) K&
64,045,974 T (ZZ2ZT A
& 448116218 L) 2 & T
REREHEBTER (M
27)

ARARHEA$£185,000,000
B oo (ZEZT A F

185,000,000/ 7T) 2 A A &R
(K1 5%£39) + &

AREBZREBRITER
71,500,0007C A R ¥ (#4948 %
7 71,215,139%8 7T) R B L 5
=EMMEBEHAEBRA
Al BEMBRERATERA
A MIN=HEBEFRAF -
AT ERREENL DA - AT
ERHERMBRAT L
EREBERRARRIMEE
EIRABRARREER - (=
TERF  AEE 2 RHRTT
B 776,500,000 A R (49
1 73,557,692/5 7T) B
VUEZENIEREEARA
A MMNEBEIAESRA
A MNEREEERAF
INVEEENRBR AT - BE
MEBHREFRAR HNIE
EPHERMERAD R KT
RN AGRA BRI
") °

BT AEIFEITER100,538,3007C
AR (FHEMN100,137,749%7T) BA

AR¥

4=

=
NH F

EE

Higz EFIGAETT
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 31. FFERITER (&)
BORROWINGS (continued)
Other interest rate information: Hfth Al = E R} -
Group
N |
2006 2005
“EERE “TTRE
Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate  Floating rate
& & F| & FBA=E [E] 7 7] % R PR
HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Import loans - secured ENER-BHRA - 47,476,134 - 37,784,356
Bank loans - secured ROTEN - FHEA 100,137,749 20,000,000 73,557,692 45,000,000
Company
AN
2006 2005
“EERE “TTHE
Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate  Floating rate
& & F % FEA R & & ] & FEFI &
HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Bank loans - secured ROTEHN-FHEM - 20,000,000 - 35,000,000
The carrying amounts of the Group's and the REBRAAGRE 2 ER KR
Company’s current borrowings approximate to their fair BEEARTEES

values.
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FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 32. MMEHERENNRE
The Group leases one of its motor vehicles under a AEERBEHEBEOLZHEEER
hire purchase arrangement which is repayable by — 2R - B¥R60ME A A £ BiE
instalments of over 60 months and is classified as a B WHERmERE -
finance lease.
At 31 December 2006, the total future minimum lease RZZFEZEAF+_A=1+—H 1R
payments under the finance lease and their present EREHE RREEBERETE
values were as follows: EFEBEEWOT :
Present value  Present value
of minimum  of minimum
lease lease
Minimum Minimum payments payments
lease payments lease payments HREREFR HEBEFTH
REHEAR FEREMK ZH{E ZBE
Group 2006 2005 2006 2005
A5H “EEXE —ZTHE CZBERE C"TTHE
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Amounts payable: e FIE
Within one year —F QR 233,808 233,808 222,456 208,857
In the second year F-F 58,452 233,808 57,841 222,456
In the third to fifth years, FEZERF
inclusive BEEEMEF - 58,452 - 57,841
Total minimum finance REREEE
lease payments DB 292,260 526,068 280,297 489,154
Future finance charges ARPBHZ (11,963) (36,914)
Total net finance lease ERNBERE
payables BFE 280,297 489,154
Portion classified as SIERE A E
current liabilities =57 (222,456) (208,857)
Non-current portion ERE R 57,841 280,297

The Group's hire purchase arrangement bears interest

at a fixed rate and its carrying amount approximates

to its fair value.

AEEZHEES QLT HIREE M
KB MEAREEZEALQFEM

Eras

E )
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &
Company
KAF
2006 2005
ZEERE “ZTRE
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised: EIE
6,000,000,000 ordinary shares 6,000,000,000/% & A% H (&
of HK$0.10 each 0.10/8 L 2 T @Ak 600,000,000 600,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHR
3,985,303,000 3,985,303,000
(2005: 3,741,481,000) (ZZZTRHEF : 3,741 481 oooJ&)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREEI0E T ZE 398,530,000 374,148,100
During the year, the movements in share capital were FA - BRARZEEBIT
as follows:
(a) On 27 March 2006, the Company issued (a) A=+t

268,500,000 ordinary shares to an existing
shareholder of the Company, at the price of
HK$0.115 per share, which resulted in increase
of issued capital and share premium, before
share issue expenses, of HK$26,850,000 and
HK$4,027,500, respectively, for an aggregate
cash consideration of
HK$30,877,500.

approximately

During the period from 10 August 2006 to 16
August 2006, the Company repurchased
24,678,000 of its own shares through The Stock
“Stock
Exchange”) at prices ranging from HK$0.092

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

and HK$0.099 per share, for an aggregate cash
consideration of HK$2,402,431.

m %

—EERF=

PN/ T S S
268,500,0000% & 38 % F — iz
RRABZBEERR - EREA
FRR0.115% T - BRE K
TR EA) 49/430,877,500
BT BREBEITRARR
& 8 Bk o B 8
26,850,000/% 7T % 4,027,500
BT °

Zﬁ_ij\ﬂ +75H HEF’?
RAFAFRO0.092F L E
0.0998 TR ERKREBEE
RBERAR ([HBRZAT])
f8 [0 24,678,0000% N A 7 i%
7 - #BIE SR (E /2,402,431
PETT o
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 33. BAE (&
All the shares repurchased by the Company RN A= o) S
were cancelled by the Company and, RARGEHE - Ak - A2A
accordingly, the issued share capital of the BEETRAZILEERMDEE
Company was reduced by the nominal value of WA BEER I TRINE AT
these shares. The discount received on the ARMDEER °
repurchase was credited to the share premium
account.
A summary of the transactions during the year with FRN - FMARRBEITRAZE
reference to the above movements in the Company’s BoMENT :
issued share capital is as follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
BETROHEA BETRA It 473 B iR &F
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2005, WZZEER5-F—8
31 December 2005 “EERFT-A=+-BR
and 1 January 2006 ZEE F-A-H 3,741,481,000 374,148,100 1,972,500 376,120,600
Issue of shares BIIMR M 268,500,000 26,850,000 4,027,500 30,877,500
Share issue expenses 2RER - - (1,148,490) (1,148,490)
Repurchase of shares BERAH (24,678,000) (2,467,800 65,369 (2,402,431)
At 31 December 2006 R-Z2EXE+-R=+-H 3,985,303,000 398,530,300 4,916,879 403,447,179




CATIC International Holdings Limited = B i 2= # fif B BR 2 IR B IR 2 7]

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006

BB RMME —zexst-g=1-8

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the annual general meeting held on 14 May 2001,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“2001 Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2001 Scheme on
14 May 2001, the Stock Exchange introduced a number
of changes to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules on share
option schemes. These new rules came into effect on
1 September 2001.
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, a new share option

In compliance with the amended

scheme (the "Existing Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 13
May 2003 and at the same time the 2001 Scheme was
terminated. Since the adoption of the Existing Scheme,
no options have been granted thereunder.

Major terms of the Existing Scheme include:

1. The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide
incentives to the participants.

2. The participants of the Existing Scheme are

individuals being employees, officers or
consultants of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries including any executive or non-

executive directors thereof.

34.

BREE

E-ZZ-FRATHBARTZR
REFARgL ARAHEMHT —A
FEARRERT 2 ([20015T8)) - BES
BRERAAEEER ZKIEL
BRlzcAERZEE -

RZZFTZE—FHATHHA20015TE
RN - BBt EmRAIE 17
EEMERESEZHAESIAZIE
B BT —F LA —HRBAE
W BB EMRAUNE17TELEET
ZHE  ARBE_ZTE=FHA
TERARTIRRBEFAE LEMN
S—IENERETS ([RBEED
IR 4R 1200158 - BERMARE
FTEILAR - W& UL FT SR L
REIRHE -

BAFEIZEZHRRERE

1. BAHEEERSRERR
S -

2. BAEZ2RER/RAR
ﬁEEﬂWEQEZﬁ§~
SRBERERZEA - B
PEBEEARTHIENTE
=
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

3.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Existing Scheme and the 2001 Scheme
(collectively the “Schemes”) must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the share capital of
the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Existing Scheme. The Company may
refresh this 10% limit at any time subject to
prior approval by its shareholders in a general
meeting. The overall limit on the total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options and yet to be exercised
under the Schemes must not exceed 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company at any
time. No options may be granted if this will
result in such limit being exceeded. The total
number of shares available for issue under the
Existing Scheme is 367,573,100 shares which
represented 9.22% (2005: 9.82%) of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the balance
sheet date.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options (whether
exercised, cancelled or outstanding) granted
under the Schemes in any 12-month period
immediately preceding any proposed date of
grant of option to each participant must not
exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company
in issue as at the proposed grant date.

Options may be exercised at any time during a
period of 10 years commencing on the date
falling three to six months after the date of
grant.

A grant of an option must be accepted within
28 days from the date of grant together with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00.

34. BRERTE (FB)

3.

BT AR B3 A 51 £ %2001
TEI (AT E IR EE
BREMBEITZRMNDBE
AEHETBBBEBARANEBB
BHEEERZERITRA
10% ° 2N &) 7] & B 52 5T 3%
10% LR - 1B RN
RAE L=t - BiTfE
BT EI TR 2 E R AR ITEE
BREMmEIT 2 RM B EE
BER  TRBREARQRME
AIBF B TR AN30% ° i
REBREeSENHEAFH
LR AT 2R L EARE -
BEREETETZRNG
4881 /5367,573,1000% » B
REEBARARBBEITRA
Z 922%(—ZFEZT R EF :
9.82%) o

E A i 2 3 9% 1 B IR 4 B B
A+ =@ A M E T ERIE
FTEIFTIR 2 ERE (THmE
118 - BEEsEs AT M
MESLEEZRTREETZ
RDBE - TSHAARRA
REZEL BB B EHTR
1% o

BRENRNRE A RR=(E
AESTHFRBERTE -

B AR L B & 28H
NEMH WA NTAIRE
IA1.00/8 7T ©
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

7. The exercise price of an option to subscribe for
shares granted pursuant to the Existing Scheme
shall be the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant, which must
be a business day;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately proceeding the
date of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

8. The Existing Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on 13
May 2003 and thereafter for as long as there
are outstanding options granted and accepted
pursuant thereto prior to the expiration of the
said 10-year period and in order to give effect
to the exercise of any such options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

34. BRERTE (FB)

7.

RIBIR A& R AR ER
MzBEREZTEEBERARST
2 wRmE

(@ BOHERLBHER
EHEH)EARBRA
BEHREBR KT
13

by MBOHERLBHAA
(EEENED N RS
R#ERzFHED
B R

(0 ARARRPEE -

REsEl-—TT=FFA
T=ZBEFTFRBER M
R +FHmaE R R
B2 R 1T R BB AR A AT
1TE -

BEEYEETHAEAZTAREN
RERARE EREZHEF -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 34. MERR#ESTE (&)

Notwithstanding the termination of the 2001 Scheme, B A 20015T BB AR IE - BREH
the relevant provisions thereof remain in full force and FTEIRRIERIE R E M B ARITEZ
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the BREDBBURFBETE 2 HE
exercise of any outstanding share options granted 178 » BL20015H B R L ATE K H
thereunder prior to its respective termination. Details MR _ZEERNF+_A=+—HH
of share options granted under the 2001 Scheme prior RITEZEREZERAT :

to its termination and outstanding as at 31 December
2006 were as follows:

Number of share options

BREMSRAEHA
Outstanding at
31 December
Outstanding Cancelled/ 2006 Exercise
at 1 January 2006 Granted Exercised lapsed ~ RZZIARE Exercise price per
Eligible person ~ W=ZZAE-A—R  during the year  during the year  during theyear TZB=t-H Dateof grant  period (i) share (ii)
RERAL WATE ERERE EREfE  EREE/ 4R WATE RHAS M) SRR
HKS
BT
Director
£z
Ji Guirong 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 25/2/2003 25/8/2003 to 0.13
FER TRk 24/8/2008
“A-tEE -E%zE
NA-tEH
EIRR)N\E
NAZtEA
Other employees 22,000,000 - - - 22,000,000 25/2/2003 25/8/2003 to 0.13
AftlEE ZEE-F 24/8/2008
“A-tEE -E%=E
NAZt3A
EIERN\E
NAZtEA
42,000,000 - - - 42,000,000
0) Share options must be held for a minimum of (i) WERBEZERLNEA T AT
six months before exercise. Exercise period shall fE RS AR M ¢ 1T B R B iR
not exceed a period of five years commencing ExmE BmoNE A £ A
on the expiry of a period of not less than six WBRAFRE -
months after the date the option is accepted.
(i) The exercise price of the share options is subject (i) BREZITEEEASERK
to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus DI AN = NN U N e
issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s Hith USSR ELARE -

share capital.



CATIC International Holdings Limited = B2 £ 7 BB ZE KRB R 2 7

Notes to Financial Statements 31 pecember 2006

MBEHRME —z2rst-p=+-n

34.

35.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

At the balance sheet date, the Company had
42,000,000 share options outstanding under the 2001
Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share
options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 42,000,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital and share premium, before issue
expenses, of HK$4,200,000 and HK$1,260,000,
respectively.

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 42,000,000 share options
outstanding under the 2001 Scheme, which represented
approximately 1.1% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.

RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’'s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior
years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 39 of
this annual report.

Pursuant to the articles of association of a
subsidiary operating as a Foreign Investment
Enterprise in Mainland China and the relevant
PRC Company Law, the subsidiary shall make
an allocation from its profit after tax at the rate
of 10% to the statutory surplus reserve fund,
until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the subsidiary. Part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be capitalised as the
subsidiary’s registered capital, provided that the
remaining balance after the capitalisation is not
less than 25% of the registered capital of the
subsidiary. The statutory reserve is non-
distributable other than in the event of
liquidation.

Certain amounts of goodwill arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years remain
eliminated against consolidated retained profits,
as explained in note 16 to the financial
statements.

34.

395.

BBRERTE ()

REEH - 2001518 FARQ R
H42,000,0000% B8 A% # i R 1T o
EARRRIEARAERET  BEIT
5 6 £ 2 B8 IR AE A B BUR R Al &R S
#1742,000,000% @A D + ™
RARRGHE CRETEITEA) &
2 A ¥ 0 4,200,000/ T &
1,260,000 7T °

RELELEHBHRERER - /£2001
sH 2 TARQF 2£5E42,000,0000% 8
RERMKRITE  WHEBRRRE
BEIRHMHZ21.1% -

#
(a) A&KEH

AEBAFERNEFEZ
RERELFEEEDHNAF
WFEVA AR EB R
A o

BB — KNP BEKREAIIE
CETAREZHBRAZ
HEERENMBATBEABA
AN EPNCIE S e
BEMZI0%BEEIEERTE
T BEEFBRFBEEZM
B ARIEMEARLZ50% ° #8
MAERBEEARTERS
B ARIBA  HEREEAR
feig 2 SR T ESHRT DR
BRABEMEARZ25% ° K
BRI EEREETRED

i °

B 40 B 75 3R 2% T 5E 16 P Ak
FREFEWBENE QR T
EENETE&BZEENA
e EERRNE -
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35. RESERVES (continued)

35. & (&)

(b) Company () I N
Retained
profits/
Share (accumulated
premium Contributed losses)
account surplus BHEERN/ Total
&% B & MABR (Rt E#B) At
Notes HKS HK$ HK$ HKS$
fizt BT BT BT B
At 1 January 2005 W-EERE-A—H 1,972,500 5,243,300 15,734,600 22,950,400
Loss for the year TEEH - - (6,828,069) (6,828,069)
At 31 December 2005 R=EZRE+-A=1-H
and 1 January 2006 R=ZE F-A—H 1,972,500 5,243,300 8,906,531 16,122,331
Issue of shares, net of EfTR{ « B MR ER
share issue expenses & 33(a) 2,879,010 - - 2,879,010
Repurchase of shares B2 i 7 33(b) 65,369 - - 65,369
Loss for the year TEBH = = (10,651,671)  (10,651,671)
At 31 December 2006 R=EEARE+=-A=1—H 4,916,879 5,243,300 (1,745,140) 8,415,039
The contributed surplus of the Company PiNNE] o N = % /N

represents the difference between the
consolidated net asset value of Far East
Aluminium (B.V.1.) Limited on 20 November 1991
when its entire issued share capital was acquired
by the Company pursuant to a group
reorganisation, and the nominal amount of the
Company's shares issued in consideration for
such acquisition, net of accumulated losses of
the Company set off in the prior years. Under
the Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus of the
Company is distributable to shareholders under
certain circumstances.

The Company’s share premium account of
HK$4,916,879 (2005: HK$1,972,500) as at 31
December 2006 may be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

BEEEEAZHER -
—f%+—HZ+H AFar
East Aluminium (B.V.l.)
Limited & & 2 # T IR ANE -
Far East Aluminium (B.V.l.)
LimitedZ 5 & B E /FEE K
NEERWEBREMmMETZ
RDEEMRE 2Z5%8 - ¥ E
HERBEFEFREEZ AR
AR EE - REBEARE—
NAN—FRAVE (BETAR) -
RKRABZEABRBESE TIE
MTAHESIR T SRR -

KRABRZZEZEFE+A
=+—Bz2KBHhaER
49168798 T (ZZEZ 1
& 11,972,500/ JT) 7] LA 8%
BRI DI o
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year, the Group capitalised
depreciation charges amounting to
HK$3,646,879 (2005: HK$4,004,234)
(note 6) and interest expense of
HK$3,776,367 (2005: HK$909,081) in
long term construction contracts (note 7).

(i) On 22 December 2006, the Group’s
interest in an associate with carrying
amount of HK$84,181,088 was
reclassified as an available-for-sale
investment of HK$42,090,544 and an
equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$42,090,544,
respectively (notes 18, 20 and 26).

(b) Restricted cash and cash equivalent
balances

Certain of the Group's time deposits are pledged
to banks to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group, as further explained in note 31(a)(v).

Certain of the Group's cash and cash equivalent
balances are not freely convertible into Hong
Kong dollars (note 27).

36. MEREHRERME

(a) EXFBREXRS

(i) FA - AEEHTE

M X 3,646,8797% T
22 A F

4,004,234 70) (Kiat
6) B F B B %X
3,776,367 L (= F
= HF : 909,081/5
o) BARMBEEEDN
KA (K7 aE7) °

(i RZTEZERFTA
—+=-—HB EHEEA
84,181,088/ jr 2 A
EB 2B E R R ER
W E N D E B
42,090,544 jT 2 A
#HE MK’ EAM
42,090,544 JC 2 &
BEZERAFEINNE
R AIEE (HfaE18
20526) °

(b) ERHFRAERBESESEEHR

AEBZETERFREE
BTRT AERAKEE
BRZRITER  E—FPEE
HRHTE31(@)(V) °

AEBzETRERRES
BEEBRTAI BB EBREKB T
(Ktzt27) °
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37. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 37. &N ZTH

(a) As lessor (a) fEBHBEA
The Group and the Company leases their AEERARGREEBZ
investment property (note 13) under an ERME 2 KEMAZ HEH
operating lease arrangement with lease ML EWZE (FE13) °

negotiated for a term of two years.

At 31 December 2006, the Group and the RZEERF+ZA=1+—
Company had total future minimum lease B RNEBERARRQARREHE
receivables under non-cancellable operating PRI LA T 5 29 5 57
lease with its tenant falling due as follows: ZAA RS ERNERH
BHEARKEEKESEES
P :
Group Company
x5E PN
2006 2005 2006 2005
“2ERE  C—TT0E ZEBBERE _ZTTILF
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
B B B BT
Within one year —EN 587,760 587,760 587,760 587,760
In the second to E_FREREN
fifth years, inclusive ~ BEBEEME - 587,760 - 587,760

587,760 1,175,520 587,760 1,175,520
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37. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS  37.

REENORE (B)

(continued)
(b) As lessee (b) fERAEA
The Group and the Company lease its office KREBRANG HEETITY
premises under non-cancellable operating lease IRl S E ek A e
arrangements with terms ranging from one to HNFE—ZZHEZR o
five years.
At 31 December 2006, the Group and the RZBEZEREFF+=_A=1+—
Company had total future minimum lease B BIENT T 4EEE H
payments under non-cancellable operating leases TRAIE E AT  RE
falling due as follows: BRAANRESHAEELYR
BRENHESEFERIINOT -
Group Company
X5E AN
2006 2005 2006 2005
“EERE —ZThHE “EERE “ETRE
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Within one year —F R 1,550,808 766,090 127,500 504,850
In the second to E-FEFRER -
fifth years, inclusive ~ BEBEMRE 331,416 686,798 - -
1,882,224 1,452,888 127,500 504,850
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COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments in note
37(b) above, the Group had the following commitments
at the balance sheet date:

38. &iE

B £ 3CHIRE37() 2 & & M A A
C REERGEER BT AL

Group

AR
2006 2005
—EERE —ZETRF
HK$ HK$
#ET BT

Contracted, but not provided for: 2 5] 4918 14 K # 4 -
Acquisition of plant W HE R B M 1 B8
and machinery 2,990,035 14,332,692
Acquisition of land U B8 + b 19,598,530 -
Establishment of a joint [DAVAS N /NI
venture* 39,840,637 -
62,429,202 14,332,692
Authorised, but not contracted for: BEIE#EE R4 ¢
Establishment of a joint D AVAE RPN
venture* - 38,461,538
62,429,202 52,794,230
o On 4 January 2006, Sino-Aviation Investments Limited RZZEZERF—HAMAE - AAF

(“Sino-Aviation Investments”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint venture
agreement (the “JV Agreement”) with CATIC and
Chengdu Aircraft Industry (Group) Corporation Ltd.
(“Chengdu Aircraft”) for the establishment of a joint
venture to engage in the research and development,
design and manufacture of, and provision of technical
services for parts and components for commercial
aircrafts. According to the JV Agreement, the total
registered capital of the joint venture will be RMB100
million (equivalent to approximately HK$100 million),
of which 40%, 15% and 45% respectively, will be
contributed by Sino-Aviation Investments, CATIC and
Chengdu Aircraft. The JV Agreement is conditional
upon (i) the internal approval obtained by each of
the three parties; and (ii) the approvals from the
relevant PRC authorities. As at 31 December 2006,
the JV Agreement has not become effective as the
conditions stated above have not been fulfilled.

2 & B M B A 7 Sino-Aviation
Investments Limited ([Sino-
Aviation Investments]) £2 7 i 57
BRATIRKBRETE (EB)HF
REFRAR ([KERE]) FTIZE
Sk ([&EHE]) - BAKRIZI—
KaEnn  EEmARKTH
2 e - RE REE R MR
AR - RIS Lz - a8 A
Al z B almEXB A
100,000,000 A R # (FHE R4
100,000,000/ 7t) ' H & Sino-
Aviation Investments + il 1% 42
RAIRKEBRESE D B EE
40% * 15% [ 45% ° & & &
BRFATREERE  FEE
W HBBEO0=7%8EER
BB R()VER B R B#E
2 - BE_TZTF+_HA
=+—8 - \BR LG mRE
B - BEUbEZE & 1 M R AR ©
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39. HARAEE
The contingent liabilities of the Group and the REER - REERAKRARZHA
Company at the balance sheet date were as follows: BEHT
Group Company
x&H N
2006 2005 2006 2005
“EEXE C—TERE CZEERE —TTA4F
HKS HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Corporate guarantees for SBRITHET
banking facilities granted WERAZRIIEE
to a subsidiary et 2 DRER
(note 31(a)(vi)) (fT&E31(a)(vi)’ - - 185,000,000 185,000,000
Guarantees under BREEH
performance bonds for BAREE ZER
construction contracts 89,502,970 58,815,035 - -
Guarantees for banking FRITE T
facilities granted to FTEHRERZ
major suppliers RITEEEL 2 ER 96,221,614 44,230,769 - -
185,724,584 103,045,804 185,000,000 185,000,000

As at 31 December 2006, the banking facilities
granted to the subsidiary subject to guarantees given

to the banks by the Company were utilised as follows:

RZZEERF+_A=+—H "
BB A R E AR B FTE L Z R

MER ZRTEEERRATH

%
2006 2005
ZEBXREF —TTRF
HK$ HK$
T BT
Import loans EOBR 47,476,134 37,784,356
Guarantees under BESDNZ
performance bonds for BAREZE
construction contracts ZER 89,502,970 58,815,035
136,979,104 96,599,391

The securities for the banking facilities are set out in

note 31(a) to the financial statements.

ZERTEEZEREINBE R

KW EE31() °
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 39. ARAE (&)
The Group also had a contingent liability in respect of 7N B I8 1R PR A S (R 17 1R ) R 2R
possible future long service payments to employees AgEEREESNRKREEmME
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, with a FABE  ZEXAAEERZZ
maximum possible amount of HK$269,258 (2005: NET-_A=+—HZ&E=oEH
HK$493,000) as at 31 December 2006, as further /2692588 L (ZTTAHF ¢
explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The 493,000/ L)  HBEER TR K
contingent liability has arisen because, at the balance MizE2.4 - KABBERHREELE
sheet date, a number of current employees have BEETNLVPREBEREBEIFMBERAAN
achieved the required number of years of service to SERBEH  MESEZEFEA
the Group in order to be eligible for long service FREETHERATHEKLILEBEERR
payments under the Employment Ordinance if their BEBERIAEZERAKRBES - R
employment is terminated under certain circumstances. REANBEBATAAEEHAEE
A provision has not been recognised in respect of such RRHBERERME - FTAL R
possible payments, as it is not considered probable MZEAREEI N 2 HRERER
that the situation will result in a material future outflow 1 o
of resources from the Group.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEAXXRS
(@) In addition to the transactions described (a) BB ERSBMILZR S
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group N REBERFERGHESTIA
had the following material transactions with TEREEALTRS :
related parties during the year:
2006 2005
—EEXRE —ETThHF
Notes HK$ HKS$
M &t BT BT
Rental income received W ER fR 3R HE & Mg A
from a shareholder (i) 587,760 550,000
Net income from REIEHEC1202
Project EC120 WA (i) 1,258,854 3,408,211
Interest received from W BR Bt &8 A R
an associate A2 WA (ifi) - 62,999
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Notes:

(i) The Company entered into a tenancy
agreement with CATIC (H.K.) Limited (“CATIC
(H.K.)"), a deemed shareholder of the
Company, to lease the Company’s investment
property to CATIC (H.K.) for a term of two
years commencing on 1 January 2006 at a
monthly rental of HK$48,980 (2005: monthly
rental of approximately HK$45,833) (exclusive
of rates, management fees and air-
conditioning charges). The rental was
determined with reference to open market

rentals.

(i) Balance represented net cash proceeds
received or receivable from CATIC generated
from Project EC120. Further details are set out
in note 19 to the financial statements.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2005,
the Company granted loans in aggregate of
HK$5,350,000 to Sino Gas. The loans bore
interest at 2.5% over the 3-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") per annum,
which was either equal to or above the cost
of fund of the Company. The loans and the
related interest expenses had been fully settled
during the year ended 31 December 2005.

(iv) During the year ended 31 December 2005,
the Group granted a loan of RMB3,000,000
to ERFHBREREMEEREMER A
subsidiary of Sino Gas registered in the PRC.
The loan was interest-free and had been fully
repaid during the year ended 31 December
2005.

40. BBEAXTRE (&)

s -

(i) ANARERAERDRE R
R 2 B A ZE B T
A(E&)BRAR([H
M (EB)ITLHE
W& BAARZEE
%%ﬁﬂ%¢m&(§

B) B =Z2TAE
fﬂfﬂtﬁ'%%ﬁ
F 5 AHE% /48,980
BT (ZETRF : §A
i€ # A& 45,8338 L)
(TREZM  EEER
ZRE) - FTAES TS
ERNHTMERSERE °

(ii) e T IE B EC1201E R
B 48 R &) Uk B sk pE Uk
ZHEESRIBFEE - #E—
F B B R R M

(iii)

A A #155,350, OOO/’%
TLEEHRIREE - ERF
ERBREBE=EAFER
# & ([HIBORJ) AN
25%EE - HERSEE
RARBHNESKAE -
ZERRBBEZANEE
HEEBE-ZZTHEF
+TZA=+—BLFE
AU E o

H

(iv) RBE_ZTEZTRF+=

REEETHBRER
AR o O BB A Al
RARZERRRBEA
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AR o 328K U
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

41.

40. BEALTRE (&)

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of (b) AEBBESIEAEMNR
the Group: [
2006 2005
—EERF —ETTHF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Short term employee HEEEEF
benefits 9,804,550 7,820,567
Post-employment benefits & & 1% 18 7 569,490 464,280
Total compensation paid to 37 i B 42 & 32
key management A B H) 3 B
personnel 48 %8 10,374,040 8,284,847

Further details of directors’ emoluments are
included in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)(i)
to (a)(ii) above also constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, comprise
bank loans, a finance lease, and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade and retention receivables
and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

It is, and has been, throughout the year under review,
the Group’s policy that no trading in financial
instruments shall be undertaken.

41.

BERESMEE—TFIB
N RRMFES

A FIE B (@)()E(a)(i) 2 BEALR
SMEREERESS (FER LT
FHAIFE14AF) o

MBEREERERK
=

AEEZTESRTABRRRITE
X BMEHEE MELEHRF
RoWETRIBZIZAERA
AEE 2 EERHEMIR - AEETR
BEEGNEBTHEERAE -
WMEWE SRR RRE S - AKRE
NEZERRRE  HEEAEE
mEL e

EEBEFEAR  AEE-ERRA
ETERMIAEENOEE -
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s borrowings from banks during the year
will either mature within one year or are repayable on
demand and all the bank borrowings bear interest at
interest rates with reference to the HIBOR or the prime
rate. In view of the Group’s short term bank borrowings
and the fact that the prime rate in Hong Kong basically
changes in line with the HIBOR, the Group’s exposure
to the risk of changes in market interest rates is
minimal.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures primarily arising
from certain sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currency,
which are mainly denominated in United States dollars.
In view of the fact that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged
to the United States dollar and that the Group tries to
match its assets and liabilities with the same currency,
the Group'’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

41.

MERARBEEBERK
xR (&

REBEZSMTAMELAZ EEE
SREASHREFNERER - /NER
% EERRBETEBERR - EF
SEERTIETE I SRR K
K oBata R e

B & i & Fl| F 7 b
FAREERBITREZEETIR
—FRIHAIREREFE - FTA
WITHBEEAHTE  BEXHIERE
HIBORZ S B = E il & o BN A
SEZRTEEREH  URES
xEBEAE 2 #EFHEKR FEHBOR
—HZ2FEE - ARAKEMAAZD
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, equity
instruments at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale financial assets, arises from default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of

bank loans and finance leases. The Group’s policy is to
minimise borrowings.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(a) Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 25
January 2007, Billirich, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
convertible bond agreement with Sino Gas,
pursuant to which convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$15,600,000
were issued by Sino Gas to Billirich. The
convertible bonds are interest-bearing at 2% per
annum and Billirich has the right to convert the
convertible bonds into ordinary shares of Sino
Gas at HK$0.65 per share (subject to adjustment
upon the change in the capital structure of Sino
Gas) and the convertible bonds will mature at
two years after the issue of the convertible
bonds. Besides, upon the occurrence of certain
mandatory conversion events, Sino Gas shall
have the right to require the conversion of the
principal amount then outstanding and all
interest accrued thereon into ordinary shares of
Sino Gas at the then conversion price. Assuming
full conversion of the convertible bonds at the
conversion price of HK$0.65 per share, the
convertible bonds can be converted into
24,000,000 ordinary shares of Sino Gas.

41.

42.
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42. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
(continued)

(b)

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 15
March 2007, the Group disposed of 30,000,000
ordinary shares of Sino Gas (which were
designated as equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss) to an independent third
party and issued a call option to that party to
acquire at an exercise price of HK$0.5 per share
from the Group a maximum of an additional
45,000,000 ordinary shares of Sino Gas, which
represented 2.1% and 3.1% of the issued shares
of Sino Gas at the balance sheet date,
respectively. Such call option grants the option
holder the right to acquire those shares within
24 months from the date of the issue of the
option. At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Group’s interest in the issued
share capital of Sino Gas was reduced to 17.4%.

During the 5th Session of the 10th National
People’s Congress, which was concluded on 16
March 2007, the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law
(the “New Corporate Income Tax Law”) was
approved and will become effective on 1 January
2008. The New Corporate Income Tax Law
introduces a wide range of changes which
include, but are not limited to, the unification
of the income tax rate for domestic-invested
and foreign-invested enterprises at 25%. Since
the detailed implementation and administrative
rules and regulations have not yet been
announced, the future financial impact of the
New Corporate Income Tax Law to the Group
cannot be reasonably estimated at this stage.

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 24 April 2007.

42.

43.
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